
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
 
 
Date Friday 19 June 2020 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Remote Meeting - This meeting is being held remotely via 
Microsoft Teams 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 
 

Items which are open to the Public and Press 

Members of the public can ask questions with the Chair’s agreement, 
and if registered to speak. 

 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 14 February 2020 (Pages 3 - 14) 

4. Declarations of Interest, if any   

5. COVID-19 Planning and Response: (Pages 15 - 62) 

 Report of the Corporate Management Team. 

6. Refresh of the Work Programme 2020/21 for the Corporate Overview 
 and Scrutiny Management Board: (Pages 63 - 76) 

 Report of the Corporate Director of Resources. 

7. Extension of appointment of non-statutory, non-voting Overview and 
 Scrutiny Co-optees: (Pages 77 - 88) 

 Report of the Corporate Director of Resources. 

8. Notice of Key Decisions: (Pages 89 - 98) 

 Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services. 



9. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the meeting, is 
 of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
 
 
County Hall 
Durham 
11 June 2020 
 
 
 
To: The Members of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board 
 

Councillor R Crute (Chair) 
Councillor A Batey (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors E Adam, R Bell, D Boyes, J Chaplow, M Clarke, A Hopgood, 
P Jopling, B Kellett, H Liddle, L Maddison, J Makepeace, R Manchester, 
C Martin, O Milburn, C Potts, J Robinson, J Rowlandson, A Savory, 
A Shield, H Smith, F Tinsley, J Turnbull, M Wilkes and A Willis 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact: Martin Tindle Tel: 03000 269 713 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board held in 
Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham on Friday 14 February 2020 at 9.30 
am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor R Crute (Chair) 

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors A Batey (Vice-Chair), E Adam, R Bell, D Boyes, J Chaplow, J Clark 
(substitute for O Milburn), A Hopgood, I Jewell (substitute for M Clarke), P Jopling, 
B Kellett, H Liddle, R Manchester, C Martin, J Robinson, J Rowlandson, A Shield, 
F Tinsley, J Turnbull and M Wilkes 
 
Also in attendance: 
Councillors J Considine, J Lethbridge and A Pattinson 
 

 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M Clarke, L Maddison, 
J Makepeace, O Milburn, C Potts, A Savory, H Smith and A Willis. 
 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
Councillor D Bell substituted for Councillor C Potts, Councillor J Clark 
substituted for Councillor O Milburn and Councillor I Jewell substituted for 
Councillor M Clarke. 
 
 

3 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held 27 January 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
 
The Head of Strategy, Jenny Haworth noted matters arising included: 
 

 Minute six - in relation to the Digital Strategy and Digital Developments, 
Councillors R Bell and J Robinson had asked as regards which areas 
would be included in Contract Three for the Digital Durham Programme.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Head of Strategy noted links to the appropriate maps had been 
circulated to Committee Members. 
 

 Minute eight – in relation to the Notice of Key Decisions, Councillors R 
Bell and A Hopgood had raised the issue of the leisure centre 
transformations not appearing on the report to the Board.  The Head of 
Strategy noted that a response had been send to Councillors R Bell and A 
Hopgood via e-mail from the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, 
Helen Lynch clarifying the position in this regard.  The Head of Strategy 
explained to the Committee that the main points were that the Key 
Decisions for December which included the item were published on 17 
December, with the meeting of the Board in December having been held 
on 16 December.  She added that all Members had been e-mailed as 
regards the Key Decisions on 17 December.  She added that subsequent 
to that, the January meeting of the Board was held on 27 January, after 
the 15 January meeting of Cabinet, where the item on leisure centre 
transformation had been approved. 

 
Councillor A Hopgood noted she had responded to the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services and the Chief Executive as regards the matter.  She 
noted that she fully supported leisure centre improvements, however, she 
noted other issues that had not been allocated Cabinet dates in the past had 
previously appeared on the Key Decisions document.  She added that not 
only had Overview and Scrutiny not had the opportunity to consider the 
proposals, Members had not even known the proposals existed.  Councillor 
A Hopgood noted that as the proposals had taken three years to come 
together, she felt that Members should have been made aware of them 
before now.  Councillor M Wilkes noted he had to raise the issue during the 
Part B session of the Cabinet meeting, and he felt frustration in that he was 
not able to discuss proposals with the public.  He also noted that within all 
the proposals and the budget allocated, there was one particular issue that 
had been raised for a number of years that had not been included. 

 
The Chair noted that the Constitution had been complied with in terms of the 
process.  Councillor A Hopgood noted that while that may be the case 
technically, she did not think it was necessarily right the way in which the 
proposals had been brought forward.  She reiterated that the report had 
taken three years to come to fruition and, while she could understand some 
urgent issues that could emerge from time-limited funding streams or other 
matters, she felt this particular issue should have been listed on the Key 
Decisions document. 

 
Councillor R Bell noted he did not know if it had been by accident or design, 
however, if the leisure proposals had taken three years to develop then it 
was unacceptable that it had not been included in the Key Decisions 
document.   

Page 4



He added that accordingly it may be that a change to the Constitution was 
required, or training for Officers so that they could comply with the spirit of 
the Constitution, and not bypass Overview and Scrutiny. 

 
Councillor P Jopling noted she had not been happy as regards the costs 
associated with the buying out of contracts. 
 
 

4 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 
 

5 Medium Term Financial Plan (10) 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Revenue and 
Capital Budget 2020/21  
 
The Board received a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
included, at Appendix Two, the Cabinet report of 12 February 2020 relating 
to the Medium Term Financial Plan (10) 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Revenue 
and Capital Budget 2020/21 (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services, Jeff Garfoot 
referred Members to the appended Cabinet report noting that headlines 
included additional funding for 2020/21, though with no certainty beyond 
2021, and a range of investments, some being short-term due to the levels of 
uncertainty.  He explained that the provisional settlement from Government 
had been received, however, there had been further delay in receiving the 
final settlement with those details expected to be received the week 
beginning 24 February, the week of the Council budget setting meeting. 
 
The Board were reminded that the Government’s Comprehensive Spending 
Review (CSR) had been expected in 2019, however, this had been delayed 
and was expected in 2020.  It was noted it had initially been scheduled for 
Spring, then Summer 2020, with the latest indication being that it would be 
Autumn 2020.  The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services 
explained that the Government’s Fair Funding Review (FFR) had also 
experienced a delay, now 2021/22, and therefore there was no certainty in 
terms of the quantum of funding available to Local Government from 2021/22 
onwards, or how it would be distributed between Local Authorities. 
 
Members were reminded as regards the move to 75 percent Business Rate 
Retention (BRR), again delayed until 2021/22 and of the pressures on 
various budgets such as:  Adult Social Care, Children’s Social Care and High 
Needs Dedicated Schools Grant (HNDSG) 
 

Page 5



The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services noted that 
assumptions of the loss of funding in relation to the Fair Funding Review 
amounted to around £25 million, or £5 million per year over a five-year 
period. 
  

J Lethbridge and J Rowlandson entered the meeting at 9.50am 
 
The Board were asked to note information relating to the Revenue Support 
Grant (RSG), and the continued need to look to identify savings and to 
protect frontlines services.  The comparisons of core spending power for 
Local Authorities as set out within the Cabinet report were noted and the 
Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services reminded Members 
that Durham was 48 of 151 upper-tier authorities on the recently published 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD).  He explained that the reasons for higher 
spending need in County Durham included the ability to contribute to the 
costs of adult social care; the number of children in care; high numbers 
accessing Council Tax reduction; and low Council Tax base. 
 
The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services noted 
assumptions in relation to the budget included: that social care grant funding 
would continue for the next four years; Better Care Fund (BCF) funding 
would continue, but the final £4 million tranche of Improved BCF would be 
withdrawn from 2021/22; the losses as mentioned as a result of the FFR, 
mainly due to the implementation of the Advisory Council for Resource 
Allocation (ACRA) formula for the allocation of Public Health funding; and 
that the impact of the FFR transitioned over five years equating to the 
Council losing £5 million per annum of Government funding from 2021/22. 
 
The Board were reminded of the various pressures in terms of the budget, 
including: pay inflation; National Living Wage; children services; and waste 
collection.  The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services noted 
a reduction in the employer’s contribution to the pension fund. 
 
In reference to investments, the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial 
Services highlighted additional investments as set out at Table 6 for the 
Cabinet report, noting a one-off investment of £10 million in sport and leisure 
to generate future savings.  Members were reminded of MTFP savings, 
noting to date there had been a total of around £250 million of savings over 
the last nine years.  The Board noted the projected savings required in the 
next three financial years, as set out at Table 10 of the Cabinet Report and 
were reminded that Officers continually looked at savings that were required. 
 
The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services noted details of 
the capital programme, including Spennymoor School, highways 
infrastructure and investment at Locomotion. 
 

Page 6



He referred Members to Table 16 of the Cabinet report setting out changes in 
schools block allocation and Table 17 comparing the average increase in 
fund per pupil excluding growth in the English regions and noted that the 
increase in allocations did not appear to fairly reflect need. 
 
The Chair thanked the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services 
for his comprehensive report and noted some leeway in the budget, however, 
he agreed with the need for caution as he felt austerity was not over.  The 
Chair asked the Board for their comments and questions. 
  
Councillor R Bell noted the positive elements within the report, including the 
£22 million of investments as mentioned and the additional £16 million from 
Government as set out in Appendix Eight of the Cabinet report.  He asked 
where the £22 million would come from, where the £10 million additional for 
Town and Villages would come from, and what the Council’s plans were for 
the allocation of the £20 million Town and Villages budget.  The Head of 
Corporate Finance and Commercial Services noted that Appendix Eight of 
the Cabinet report set out the estimated variances in the budget and the 
base budget pressures.  He added this gave approximately £40 million of 
additional resource for 20/21, of which £20 million would be utilised for short-
term investments.  In respect of the Town and Villages funding, the additional 
£10 million had come from a combination of a review of the required amount 
set aside for equal pay, around £5 million, and £5 million from the Budget 
Support Reserve (BSR).  The Chair asked if the estimated variances were 
subject to the Government confirming their quantum of funding.  The Head of 
Corporate Finance and Commercial Services referred to the column at 
Appendix Eight referring to 2021/22, which forecast a reduction in resource 
available of £6.5 million and while this was an estimate, he did not feel future 
years would have the resource levels as set out in the 2020/21 budget 
proposals.  Councillor R Bell asked as regards the Town and Villages fund, 
how it would be spent and why BSR was being used to top it up.  The Head 
of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services explained that plans were 
still being formulated as regards how funds would be allocated and added 
that the BSR would retain sufficient funds of around £16 million.  The Chair 
noted he would have thought the investment in Towns and Villages would be 
to help drive the local economy. 
 
Councillor J Robinson noted the newly appointed Chancellor of the 
Exchequer was a resident and MP from North Yorkshire.  He added that on 
this basis he would hope the new Chancellor would recognise the issues 
faced by the North of England.  Councillor J Robinson welcome the £20 
million investment for Towns and Villages and the additional funding 
allocated to tackle potholes.  He added that as Chair of the Adults, Wellbeing 
and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee he had concerns as regards 
Public Health funding, noting that the impact would be felt across all the 
thematic areas looked at by Overview and Scrutiny, not just health.   

Page 7



He added that his concern was that the good work and achievements of 
Public Health in Durham would be lost if the £19 million shortfall per year was 
not found.  Councillor J Robinson hoped that all MPs including the four 
recently appointed would lobby in support of our area.  He noted the 
£500,000 for flood mitigation which the Council invested with the 
Environment Agency, County Durham being the largest Council contributor, 
and asked what the county got for its investment.  The Chair noted that the 
Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee had received a report as regards flood risk at its last meeting.  
The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services noted he would 
defer to the service as regards issues raised in respect of flooding, though he 
did note the capital investment in flood mitigation within the budget.  In 
respect of lobbying, he explained many associations and organisations the 
Council was a member of or partner with were lobbying Government in 
respect of the FFR, examples being the Association of North East Councils 
(ANEC), the Rural Services Network, and the County Councils Network 
(CCN) amongst others.  The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial 
Services noted that the three newly elected Conservative MPs had attended 
County Hall and had been fully briefed as regards the issues such as the 
FFR, Area Cost Adjustment and Council Tax Equalisation. 
 
Councillor D Boyes also welcomed the investment in town and villages, 
however, he hoped there would be a focus on villages as in the past he felt 
there had been too great an emphasis on towns at the expense of the 
villages.  He noted as Chair of the Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee he had concern as regards the threat to 
the Public Health grant.  He explained that there had been significant 
investment in the Drug and Alcohol Treatment Service which was now 
providing a positive impact with a good increase in performance.  Councillor 
D Boyes noted he felt that performance could fall back to previous levels if 
the funding was to go and asked if in the future such funding would go back 
to a regional pot.  The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services 
noted as he understood the region would lose around £40 million with all 
north east councils losing funding.  He reminded the Board that prior to 
2013/14, Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) held the budget and Public 
Health had been seen as a major priority by the CCGs.  He noted that funds 
should be allocated upon need with funding levels being at those which were 
set by CCGs previously.  The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial 
Services added that a tailored distribution of funding was required, and that 
there was concern that the separate Public Health grant could lose its 
individual identity after the FFR. 
 
Councillor A Hopgood thanked the Head of Corporate Finance and 
Commercial Services and asked for thanks to be passed to his team for all 
the hard work involved in the budget setting process, and the help given to 
Councillors in this regard.   

Page 8



She urged Members to read all of the Cabinet report to see if there were any 
issues in their areas as she had noted an issue as regards her Electoral 
Division that she had not been previously made aware of.  She explained 
there was reference within the report to the extension of Hawthorn House, 
which was welcomed, however, the site had been allocated for social 
housing.  She noted she would speak to the Corporate Director of Adult and 
Health Services as regards the matter and added that in terms of 
communication, there were 126 Members. 
 
Councillor M Wilkes noted the comment from Councillor J Robinson as 
regards additional funding to tackle potholes.  He explained the extra money 
was a drop in the ocean as compared to the £180 million backlog of repairs 
and maintenance and he felt the Council and Government should be doing 
more on the issue.  In respect of the £20 million Town and Villages fund 
Councillor M Wilkes noted that of the original £10 million, £8.4 million had not 
been allocated.  He added he felt Councillors should be given some of the 
funding to allow them to start spending the money now within their towns and 
villages, and not to await allocation of remaining funds later in the process. 
 
Councillor M Wilkes noted within Appendix 11 of the Cabinet report, there 
was investment of £750,000 allocated for replacement of a Residential 
Children’s Care Home.  He noted that he did not believe a four-bed property 
in that area, including works, would warrant a cost of £750,000 and asked if 
there was a breakdown of costs to help Members understand the figure.  
Councillor M Wilkes noted that some of the investments proposed were only 
funded for one or two years and that over the last ten years Councillors had 
been told that spending had to be costed and funding on an ongoing basis.  
He asked if there had been a rule change as regards such allocations.  The 
Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services noted the additional 
funding made available for potholes was a balance in terms of tackling other 
pressures on Council services.  The Head of Corporate Finance and 
Commercial Services added that in respect of the Residential Children’s 
Care Home it was not accurate to describe it as a four-bed property there 
would need to be accommodation for staff and various adaptations to bring 
the property up to the required standards.  In respect of the short-term 
investments, none would be recurrent except for the additional 
Neighbourhood Wardens, and those that were for two years could be 
stopped after one year if required.  Councillor M Wilkes noted that in respect 
of the Children’s Home he would have felt that it may be cheaper to build a 
facility from scratch rather than convert an existing property and any money 
generated from redeveloping the former site could be reinvested into 
Children’s Services.  The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial 
Services noted the funding for the home was from the Capital Budget, not 
Children and Young People’s Services budget. 
 

Page 9



Councillor E Adam noted a number of positives within the report, although 
some were only short-term, for the reasons given.  He added that there had 
been a lot of promises made to people of County Durham during the general 
election campaign and those would need to be honoured. 
   
Councillor E Adam noted the report referred to pay inflation and the National 
Living Wage (NLW); however, there did not appear to be any mention as 
regards to pay differential, with the NLW increasing and lower grades 
therefore looking for their wage in turn to rise.  The Head of Corporate 
Finance and Commercial Services noted that no one was saying local 
authority staff did not deserve a pay increase, given the previous years of 
pay freezes, an effective 10 percent cut over the period of austerity.  He 
reminded Members that around two years ago there had been a review of 
the lower pay grades points to address the point Councillor E Adam had 
mentioned.  The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services 
added that there had also been the “Durham Living Wage” in place. Recent 
national restructuring of pay grades had resulted in some lower grades 
receiving pay awards of 6-7 percent.   
 
Councillor E Adam noted he welcomed any increase for staff, especially 
those in the lower grades particularly those working in social care.  As Chair 
of the Environmental and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee he reiterated the comments made by the Chair on the report 
received at the last meeting of that Committee in respect of flood risk.  He 
noted there was a six-year programme of pro-active works that was 
approaching its conclusion, with over £127 million having been spent by the 
Council and partner organisations.  Councillor E Adam noted that for the next 
six years there would be £8 million and 31 projects were in the pipeline, 
adding he felt that the Council was very hands on in this regard. 
 
Councillor P Jopling noted the £10 million for Sport and Leisure marked as 
“invest to save” and asked for more details of the up-front investment.  The 
Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services noted the investment 
was commercially sensitive and therefore he could not give further details at 
this stage.  He explained that there were significant savings circa £1.5 million 
and that the upfront nature of the investment was felt to be the best approach 
operationally. 
 
Councillor F Tinsley noted the positive aspects several Councillors had 
mentioned, however, he felt there were some dark clouds in the form of the 
threat to the Public Health and Social Care grants and that Government 
would feel that the solution to funding these areas would be business rate 
retention.  He added that he felt this would mean local authorities would be 
exposed and that, reading between the lines, Government was moving away 
from a needs-based allocation of resources, adding he felt that such a move 
was wrong.   

Page 10



Councillor F Tinsley added he felt the Government would move to outsource 
more and more and that expenditure on agency and contractors would 
increase more and more.  He explained that he felt London was cutting the 
rest of the country adrift and therefore it would be for the remainder to deal 
with issues themselves.  Councillor F Tinsley noted the £400 million in capital 
works proposed was very good and he hoped opposition Members would 
support this investment, especially in relation to the Towns and Villages 
budget.  He added that the Council’s proposed investment in property was 
another good proposal, creating an income stream for the Council.  He asked 
as regards the £250 million of MTFP savings over the last nine years, 
whether that was what was cut at the time and therefore would the figure be 
larger in real terms. 
 
The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services noted that in 
response to the issue of business rate retention, he felt that it was an 
aspiration of Government for local authorities to be self-sufficient, just 
surviving on council tax and business rates.  He added the CCN was now 
beginning to lobby as it was realised that the burden of adult social and 
children’s care was far greater than the money that could be generated 
through council tax and business rates.  The Head of Corporate Finance and 
Commercial Services noted that the estimates of additional budget pressures 
in 2023/24 were £21 million. As an example, this would require a 10 percent 
increase in council tax to balance the budget.  He noted that in this case of 
the only funding being via council tax and business rates, there may need to 
be cuts to frontline services.  He added some comments from Government 
as regards allowing Local Authorities to raise taxes in other ways would not 
be good and he felt that there was still the need for funding nationally for 
local authorities.  He added that the £250 million MTFP savings mentioned 
had been in each year and would be in excess of £300 million if considered 
in real terms today. 
 
Councillor C Martin noted the need to be prudent and think in the long term 
when setting budgets and therefore had some concerns in the use of the 
BSR to prop up some budgets, even though some were receiving additional 
funding from Government.  He added that he thought the way the Authority 
had protected staff was very good and he was very grateful for the extra 11 
Neighbourhood Wardens.  He asked if there were any other staff that were 
protected, or where staff were at risk had they been made aware of that risk.  
The Chair noted that as he understood it, Government funding in that 
instance had not been sufficient and therefore BSR was being utilised.  
Councillor C Martin noted the demands on the budget and reminded the 
Board of issues that had been prioritised, such as climate change and 
protection of the environment.  The Head of Corporate Finance and 
Commercial Services noted in relation to staffing that very few investments in 
staff were ever short-term, although some staff were temporary by the nature 
of some contracts and funding streams.   

Page 11



He noted Officers had received a clear message from Councillors over the 
last ten years that the protection of staff and frontline services was of 
paramount importance.  He noted that in the past at Overview and Scrutiny it 
had been remarked by several Members there had been reluctance to utilise 
the BSR and now with some BSR being utilised there was some criticism.  
He explained that there has always been a prudent approach to budget 
setting, however, it was felt that the time was right to utilise the Council’s 
“balance sheet strength” to its advantage. 
 
The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services noted the difficult 
decisions that Members had taken over the last ten years had meant Durham 
was in a strong position in terms of its finances and its borrowing position 
and that therefore there were some opportunities to invest in our 
communities.  The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services 
explained that the BSR had been in place to protect against austerity, to 
ensure there would be no impact upon frontline services.  He noted that the 
proposed use of BSR and transfer to the Town and Villages Reserve, 
represented around 30% of the BSR and there was also a separate early 
retirement / voluntary redundancy reserve.  He asked that Members be 
assured there was still contingency and support in place and that in Autumn 
2020 the Council would be in a better position to plan for the future once the 
Government settlement going forward was known. 
 
Councillor A Shield noted a lot of merit in the summary of the budget 
proposals by the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services and 
agreed with Councillor J Robinson in hoping the new Chancellor would be 
less London-centric.  He added he agreed with Councillor D Boyes in terms 
of the Town and Villages budget, hoping that villages would not be 
neglected, and that funding would be distributed on a fair basis.  Councillor A 
Shield noted the additional Neighbourhood Wardens was welcomed, with 
three to tackle fly-tipping, two for Durham City, one for “find and fix”, and five 
general wardens to support the existing team.  He noted the cost to the 
authority in relation to fly-tipping of around £2 million and asked if the 
decision to close several household waste recycling centres a few years ago 
had made an impact in that regard.  As regards the fly-tipping wardens, he 
asked where they would be allocated noting that the majority of the fly-tipping 
appeared to be within villages and the more rural areas.  He also asked who 
would decide on where those Wardens would be allocated.  The Chair noted 
that an increasing proportion of fly-tipping was linked to organised crime 
gangs, with a recent BBC article having been produced on the topic.   
 
Councillor M Wilkes noted that Appendix 13 of the Cabinet report included a 
table setting out the salaries of the Chief Executive, Corporate Directors and 
other Chief Officers.  He asked if the pay increase percentage would be the 
same for those Chief Officers as it would be for the rest of the staff and if the 
increases to those Chief Officer salaries had been factored in.   

Page 12



The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services noted that the pay 
increase factored into the budget was for 2.5% across all staff.  He added 
that this would depend upon the several negotiating bodies on behalf of 
different staff such as Unison, GMB, NHS and ALACE.  Councillor M Wilkes 
asked if in the past all staff had received the same percentage increase in 
salary.  The Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services noted this 
was not the case, reiterating there were several bodies that negotiated in 
terms of pay increases for their members, highlighting there had been an 
additional two year pay freeze on senior staff.  Councillor M Wilkes noted the 
ALACE recommendations were for a pay increase and an additional day 
annual leave and asked if there had been a decision made by the Council or 
an intention to agree to the proposals.  The Head of Corporate Finance and 
Commercial Services noted that the Council would abide by whatever 
collective negotiation was agreed nationally, though he noted that those 
organisations representing staff would often set high starting positions, for 
example Unison and GMB were asking for a ten percent pay increase for 
their Members. 
 
Councillor R Bell referred to Appendix Four as regards additional 
investments, noting recurring investments included Neighbourhood Wardens, 
Youth Parliament and AAP Community Tree Planting and asked what 
involvement Overview and Scrutiny had in those proposals and how would 
they be monitored.  The Chair noted that the Chairs of the relevant thematic 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees could give consideration to the issues 
when looking to set the work programme for their Committee for the 
upcoming year. 
 
The Chair thanked the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services 
for his hard work, noting the next stage would be for consideration of the 
budget by full Council.  He asked the Head of Strategy to give a summary of 
the main issues raised by Members. 
 
The Head of Strategy noted issues raised during the meeting had included 
the significant uncertainty as regards how the CSR and FFR would affect 
budgets beyond 2021/22 and the future financial pressures faced by the 
Council in respect of adult and children’s social care amongst others.  She 
noted several Members had mentioned the Town and Villages budget and 
that Members had felt: it was important for every local area; that the 
implementation be in line with the Council’s new vision; have the involvement 
of Local Members; and ensure that villages received investment.  The Head 
of Strategy noted Members had identified the reductions in Public Health 
grant as a risk and that lobbying of Government and the support of Local 
MPs in this regard was important.  She added that Members had mentioned 
the elements of the budget relating to flood risk and mitigation as well as 
future works and prioritisation.   

Page 13



The Head of Strategy noted the thanks of all Members for the hard work 
undertaken by the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial Services and 
his team.  She added Members had welcomed the additional funding to 
tackle potholes, with some Members noting more was needed.  The Head of 
Strategy explained that there had been general support in relation to the 
proposed capital budget investments and that the Head of Corporate Finance 
and Commercial Services had looked to reassure those Members that had 
raised concerns of using BSR to support some budgets.  She noted the final 
issue raised had been in connection with the Overview and Scrutiny 
arrangements as regards the Youth Parliament and tree planting, noting they 
would be for the relevant thematic Overview and Scrutiny Committees to 
consider within their work programmes. 
 
The Chair thanked the Officers for their work, asking the Head of Corporate 
Finance and Commercial Services to pass on thanks to the Corporate 
Director and staff involved. 
 
Resolved:  
 
That the contents of the Cabinet report and Members comments thereon be 
noted. 
 

Page 14



 

        

  

Corporate Overview and 

Scrutiny Management Board 

19 June 2020 

 COVID-19 planning and 

response 

 

 Report of Corporate Management Team 

All Members of Cabinet 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To consider a report presented to Cabinet on 5 June 2020, summarising 
the actions the council has taken working with partners to respond to the 
COVID-19 pandemic and its framework for recovery planning. 

2 While the report was correct at the time of writing (26 May 2020), the 
situation with COVID-19 is changing rapidly and government 
announcements, policy and guidance change on a daily basis meaning 
some of the information in the report may have been superseded. 

Executive summary 

3 The report outlines: 

(a) the background to the COVID-19 pandemic; 

(b) the national, regional and local response; 

(c) the council’s response, working with local communities and 
partner agencies; 

(d) its approach to recovery planning; 

(e) the financial implications for the council. 

Recommendation(s) 

4 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board is recommended to 
consider the contents of the report. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



             

      

 Cabinet 

 5 June 2020 

COVID-19 planning and 

response 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

All Cabinet Members 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

5 To provide Cabinet with a summary of the actions the council has taken 
working with partners to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic and our 
framework for recovery planning. 

6 While the report is correct at the time of writing (26 May 2020), the 
situation with COVID-19 is changing rapidly and government 
announcements, policy and guidance change on a daily basis meaning 
some of the information in the report may have been superseded. 

Executive summary 

7 A novel coronavirus - severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 
(SARS-CoV-2) – was identified in Wuhan, China at the end of last year.  
The virus is highly infectious and causes a respiratory illness called 
COVID-19. 

8 The virus has spread rapidly across the world, and was declared a 
global pandemic by the World Health Organisation on 11 March 2020. 

9 As at 27 May 2020, 213 countries/territories had been affected; there 
were 5,488,825 confirmed cases globally; and 349,095 confirmed 
deaths.  In the UK, there were 267,240 confirmed cases and 37,460 
confirmed deaths.  Here in County Durham, as at 27 May 2020, there 
were 1,976 confirmed cases and 532 confirmed deaths. 

10 The highly infectious nature of the virus and the serious illness it can 
cause has significantly affected how we live, work and play.  It has 
resulted in global adjustments to normal ways of life, travel and 
commerce, to try to contain the spread of the virus, minimise deaths 

Page 16



and ensure that COVID-19 cases do not overwhelm health and social 
care systems. 

11 As such, the coronavirus pandemic is one of the most profound 
challenges society has faced in more than a generation and with 
effective vaccines yet to be produced, we have to anticipate that society 
will be affected by COVID-19 for some time to come. 

12 The council and its partners had emergency and business continuity 
management planning frameworks in place, which enabled us to 
respond promptly to the threat as it emerged.  However, we have had to 
respond dynamically and innovatively revising our approach as the 
national coronavirus action plan and recovery strategy evolved. 

13 The council has worked nationally, regionally and locally to protect our 
communities and to support those affected by the pandemic, 
economically, socially and in relation to their own physical and mental 
health. 

14 County Durham communities themselves have been a major force in 
this and have made an immense contribution to the ‘County Durham 
Together’ response. 

15 County Durham residents have observed and cooperated with national 
guidance and while the lockdown restrictions are beginning to be 
relaxed for many, the council will continue to support the many 
thousands of residents who are still shielding and self-isolating.       

16 Council employees also have risen to the challenge and demonstrated 
their willingness to work flexibly, adopt new ways of working and 
support each other, focussing on what needs to be done to maintain 
services and support local communities.   

17 Locally, the council has worked with partner agencies via the County 
Durham and Darlington Local Resilience Forum (LRF) to manage the 
multi-agency response to COVID-19.   

18 The council’s Director of Public Health is a member of the regional 
Health Strategic Group which has worked with the three LRFs and other 
strategic planning groups across the region.   

19 The council has played a key leadership role regionally, supporting the 
LRF and regional health partnerships.  Locally the council has focused 
upon the following key aspects of its own response plan: 

(a) public health and overall planning and response to the 
pandemic; 

Page 17



(b) population health management; 

(c) community support, action and welfare support; 

(d) social care and commissioning; 

(e) support to businesses; 

(f) education and children’s services; 

(g) business continuity; 

(h) neighbourhood services; 

(i) on-line services; 

(j) workforce and human resource management; 

(k) testing; 

(l) recovery planning. 

20 In responding to the pandemic, the council: 

(a) developed overall planning arrangements, translating WHO and 
government guidance into local action and support, underpinned 
by dedicated intelligence and data analysis, public health 
practitioner advice, communications and human resources (HR) 
management; 

(b) established a community support hub with the community and 
voluntary sector, to support vulnerable people affected by 
coronavirus including those advised to ‘shield’ themselves for an 
extended period; 

(c) offered assistance to 75,000 vulnerable people in the county, as 
well as to 13,271 people who said they needed help to shield 
from infection because they are at extreme risk of illness;  

(d) established a volunteer bureau to enable local people and 
groups who want to help; 

(e) invested an additional £1.5 million via Area Action Partnerships 
(AAPs) to support local and cross-county community responses 
and have enabled local Members to allocate Member budgets 
more flexibly, potentially providing a further £1.764 million of 
revenue support; 

Page 18



(f) increased our Welfare Assistance Scheme by a further £1 million 
to provide emergency financial assistance for those in crisis, 
utilising funding from the Hardship Fund; 

(g) extended the benefits of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme, 
utilising the Hardship Fund to provide up to an additional £300 
council tax relief and arranged individually with council tax 
payers in financial hardship for their payments to be deferred 
with instalments to recommence later in the year; 

(h) supported commissioned social care providers through over 
13,600 telephone calls and the provision of advice and support; 

(i) agreed 10 percent funding increases for social care providers in 
addition to their annual inflationary uplift to help meet additional 
costs of dealing with the pandemic and made £13 million of 
payments upfront, as opposed to in arrears in order to help with 
funding and cashflow issues; 

(j) supplied over 815,000 items of PPE through to 27 May,  
including over 480,000 items to the social care sector and 
managed the provision of emergency PPE on behalf of the LRF; 

(k) established an infection inspection team and comprehensive 
multi-agency support package to support care homes to prevent 
and tackle infection outbreaks; 

(l) supported over 8,000 businesses with total grant payments of 
over £94 million; 

(m) recalculated the business rates bills of just under 2,300 
businesses, applying business rate reductions and discounts 
totalling over £49 million; 

(n) introduced immediate supplier payments, supplier relief for 
important vulnerable suppliers and rent deferrals for our 
commercial tenants; 

(o) provided advice and assistance to schools across the county 
and assisted over 240 schools to remain open to provide 
childcare for key workers; 

(p) maintained all of our child protection, safeguarding and social 
care services, maintaining contact with children and their 
families; 

(q) prioritised and maintained service delivery wherever possible, 
which has involved facilitating home working for approximately 

Page 19



60 percent of our workforce and the redeployment, training and 
development of 500 staff; 

(r) maintained essential services such as refuse collection, social 
care and community support; 

(s) rapidly expanded on-line service delivery, communications and 
online and telephone customer support, including the 
development of digital and video alternatives to face-to-face 
service delivery;  

(t) developed access to rapid local testing for council and social 
care staff, and is continuing to support and challenge the roll-out 
of testing via the National Testing Programme and development 
of regional and local contact tracing arrangements; 

(u) developed and communicated physical and mental health 
support packages for staff and maintained proactive employee 
communications and engagement and positive industrial 
relations with the trade unions.  

21 The council’s focus has now turned to restoring council services and 
laying the foundations for recovering from the pandemic. 

22 While there is a possibility that we may experience further outbreaks 
and pandemic peaks, recovering from COVID-19 will set the context for 
future community and council planning and decision-making in the 
county as we develop and implement the new county vision and council 
plan. 

Recommendation(s) 

23 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note the contents of this report; 

(b) acknowledge the immense contribution local communities made 
to the response; 

(c) acknowledge the cooperation of County Durham residents and 
that the council is continuing to support many people who are 
still shielding or self-isolating; 

(d) reflect on the contribution the council’s employees and strategic 
partners made to the response. 

  

Page 20



Background 

Virus and disease 

24 Coronaviruses (CoV) are a large family of viruses that cause respiratory 
illness.  

25 Coronaviruses were identified in the mid-1960s and are known to infect 
humans and a variety of animals (including birds and mammals).  Since 
2002, two coronaviruses infecting animals have evolved and caused 
outbreaks in humans: SARS-CoV in 2002, and MERS-CoV in 20121. 

26 On 31 December 2019, a cluster of pneumonia cases of unknown 
cause was reported in Wuhan City, Hubei Province, China.  The novel 
coronavirus has been named by the World Health Organisation (WHO) 
as ‘severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2’ (SARS-CoV-2), 
while the coronavirus disease associated with it is referred to as 
COVID-192. 

27 As with other respiratory illnesses, symptoms of COVID-19 can include 
a runny nose, loss of smell, sore throat, cough, and fever.  It can be 
more severe for some people and can lead to pneumonia or breathing 
difficulties.  More rarely, the disease can be fatal.  Older people, and 
people with pre-existing medical conditions (such as diabetes and heart 
disease) appear to be more vulnerable to becoming severely ill with the 
virus3.  

Spread 

28 On 31 January 2020, the WHO declared the outbreak as a public health 
emergency of international concern (PHEIC).  At that stage, there were 
9,847 confirmed cases globally, with 9,826 in China. 

29 On 11 March 2020, the WHO declared the COVID-19 outbreak as a 
pandemic, signifying that the new disease was now spreading globally. 
At that time, there were 124,101 confirmed cases globally and 4,583 
confirmed deaths. 

30 The outbreak initially occurred in China and spread rapidly throughout 
the country and then into neighbouring Western Pacific states.  It 
spread to Iran and Italy, with Europe taking over from the Western 
Pacific as the epicentre for the disease by mid-March.  The outbreak 
has spread rapidly globally since, with the Americas, and principally the 

                                         
1 https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/2019-ncov-background-disease 
2 https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/technical-guidance/naming-the-
coronavirus-disease-(covid-2019)-and-the-virus-that-causes-it 
3 https://www.who.int/news-room/q-a-detail/q-a-coronaviruses 

Page 21



United States, recognised as the next potential epicentre since late 
March.  

31 As at  27 May 2020, 213 countries/territories have been affected; there 
were 5,488,825 confirmed cases globally; and 349,095 confirmed 
deaths4.  In the UK, as at 27 May 2020, there were 267,240 confirmed 
cases and 37,460 confirmed deaths5. 

32 Here in County Durham, there were 1,976 confirmed cases and 532 
confirmed deaths as at 27 May 20206. 

33 The latest international, national and local statistics are available from 
the following data dashboards: 

 https://covid19.who.int/ 

 https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/ 

 https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view/lga-research/covid-19-
case-tracker 

 https://infogram.com/1pd2r5l2dpend6tmwp5xy9qqj6tkgk0yv61?live 

Response 

National 

34 In the UK, the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC), Chief 
Medical Officers, NHS England and Public Health England, supported 
by staff at regional centres have led the national response.  The council 
has been in regular contact with these agencies and local health and 
care organisations in the county. 

35 In the initial stages of the outbreak, the NHS and Public Health England 
were proactive in contacting people who had been at risk of being 
infected, testing them, and where people tested positive, tracing who 
they may have come into contact with and managing and treating risk 
cases. 

36 DHSC launched a UK-wide public information campaign to advise the 
public on how to slow the spread of the virus and reduce the impact on 
NHS services.  Information promoting important hygiene messages 
appeared in print, broadcast and social media.  

                                         
4 https://covid19.who.int/ 
5 https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/ 
6 https://infogram.com/1ppmejmyd1r6dvfrg55gyjnlv0szlmx65dq?live 

Page 22

https://covid19.who.int/
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view/lga-research/covid-19-case-tracker
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view/lga-research/covid-19-case-tracker
https://infogram.com/1pd2r5l2dpend6tmwp5xy9qqj6tkgk0yv61?live


37 DHSC worked across government to produce sector-specific guidance, 
to reflect the different challenges across a number of different settings 
for example, transport, education, social care and hospitality.  As the 
outbreak spread, more guidance was published and existing guidance 
revised as the national strategy to tackle the pandemic evolved. 

38 Appendix 2 contains a detailed chronology of government 
announcements.  The most significant policy announcement milestones 
are as follows.  

39 On 3 March 2020, the government published its coronavirus action plan 
which was based on four strategic phases – contain; delay, research; 
and mitigate.  

40 On 12 March 2020, the government published its ‘Stay at home’ 
guidance which set out what individuals should do if they experienced 
coronavirus symptoms, however mild.  At this point the government 
recognised that the virus was spreading generally throughout the 
country and could no longer be contained through international travel 
restrictions and by contact tracing around suspected or confirmed 
cases.  In terms of its action plan, this signified the shift from ‘contain’ to 
‘delay’. 

41 Following announcements in relation to the closure of schools, pubs 
and restaurants, a UK-wide lockdown was announced on 23 March 
2020, backed by police powers to enforce social distancing and closure 
regulations. 

42 Emergency legislation was introduced and passed in just four days, with 
the Coronavirus Act 2020 receiving Royal Assent on 25 March 2020.  
The legislation gives further powers to government to slow the spread of 
the virus; reduce the resourcing and administrative burden on public 
bodies; and limit the impact of potential staffing shortages on the 
delivery of public services. 

43 On 6 April 2020 the government confirmed that local authorities would 
be allowed to hold remote council meetings and that the 2020/21 annual 
general meetings of councils would be postponed.  In addition, all 
forthcoming local elections and other polls including the police and 
crime commissioner elections were postponed to 2021.   

44 In terms of financial support, the Chancellor announced a £330 billion 
support package on 17 March 2020 including business rates relief 
support for small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs).  And on 27 
April 2020 the Chancellor announced a loan scheme underwritten by 
the government which would offer SMEs loan finance of up to £50,000 
with the government meeting the interest payments in the first year. 

Page 23



45 On 20 March 2020 the introduction of a Job Retention Scheme was 
announced, whereby the government would pay the equivalent of       
80 percent of the wages of staff put on ‘furlough’ (a period of temporary 
leave of absence on reduced pay) during the lock-down. 

46 On 12 May 2020, the Chancellor made a further announcement that the 
furlough scheme would be extended by a further four months with 
workers continuing to receive 80 percent of their current salary through 
to the end of July.  In addition, from the start of August, furloughed 
workers will be able to return to work part-time with employers being 
asked to pay a percentage towards the salaries of their furloughed staff. 
The employer payments will substitute the contribution the government 
is currently making, ensuring that staff continue to receive 80 percent of 
their salary, up to £2,500 a month.  The government also announced 
that it is shortly to publish proposals for how furloughed workers can be 
supported to undertake additional training and learn new skills while on 
furlough. 

43 The government has made a number of announcements in relation to 
supporting local government financially, either by making available 
additional funding or by bringing forwarded previously announced 
funding programmes7.  In terms of additional funding, the government 
has made available two amounts of £1.6 billion COVID-19 grant, 
announced on 19 March and 18 April 2020.  Hardship funding to 
support local council tax support schemes was announced on 11 March 
2020 totalling £500 million, and more recently on 15 May 2020, a £600 
million fund was also announced for care homes support.  

47 On 11 May 2020, the government published ‘Our plan to rebuild: the UK 
Government’s COVID-19 recovery strategy’.  This set out a five point 
scale to indicate the level of threat posed by COVID-19 to society and a 
phased approach to recovery, with incremental steps to relax control 
and public protection measures. 

48 On 13 May 2020, the government amended its existing regulations 
under the Coronavirus Act to enable the phased relaxation of lockdown 
measures including allowing people to visit HWRCs, the re-opening of 
garden centres and some outdoor sports facilities.  

49 The council has established work programmes to digest the strategy, 
assess its implications and work towards its implementation as part of 
the recovery programme for council services and the county. 

 

                                         
7 https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/insights/coronavirus-support-for-local-government/ 

Page 24



Regional 

50 In the North East, the initial emergency preparedness, resilience and 
response to COVID-19 was structured around the established        
North East Pandemic Influenza Framework, which had developed by 
NHS England (NHSE) and Public Health England (PHE) and adopted 
by all three local resilience forums (LRFs) in the region. 

51 Initially, the command and control arrangements in the framework 
operated on a precautionary shadow basis, before the regional Health 
Strategic Coordination Group was stood-up formally in early March 
when the outbreak began to escalate in the region. 

52 Public Health England took the lead in issuing public information and 
guidance and advice to partners in the local health system, universities, 
local boarding schools, prisons, LRFs, airports and ports.  Detection 
and contact tracing also took place in the early phase of the pandemic 
until early March when the national plan shifted from ‘contain’ to ‘delay’.  

53 In line with the regional framework, the council led the process locally 
working closely with PHE, ensuring that local stakeholders received the 
necessary guidance and that information and advice was shared with 
services within the council.  The council worked very closely with PHE 
on detection and tracing of cases during the early phases of the 
outbreak and on the provision of advice and care to those affected.  
Links to the national coronavirus information and advice from 
government and PHE were provided via our website and we supported 
the national public information campaign via our social media channels. 

54 In line with the framework, local response arrangement were led by the 
LRFs.  On 25 March 2020, County Durham and Darlington LRF 
declared a major incident in response to the pandemic, and formally 
stood-up its response arrangements, with a strategic coordination group 
led by the Deputy Chief Constable of Durham Constabulary. 

55 The council is a major LRF partner and has played a significant role at 
all levels of response – participating in the strategic coordinating groups 
(SCG) and tactical coordinating groups (TCG) and chairing and 
resourcing all of the multi-agency support cells established to manage 
the county’s response: 

 Community Support – developing and coordinating support 
mechanisms for vulnerable people and those shielding from 
COVID-19, including facilitating and supporting volunteering and 
local community action; 

 Excess Deaths – working with GPs, hospitals, mortuaries, 
registrars, crematoria, funeral directors, town and parish councils  

Page 25



and faith groups, to manage the increased number of deaths 
while supporting the bereaved;     

 Intelligence and Data – collecting, processing, analysing and 
interpreting local, regional and national data to inform LRF (and 
council) planning and decision-making; 

 Media – developing and coordinating the communication of 
consistent messages and public information across LRF agencies 
as well as monitoring broadcast, print and social media and 
responding to media enquiries; 

 Multi-agency Information – providing a one-stop-shop for 
agency information, producing daily situation reports, threat 
assessments and feedback reports for and on behalf of the SCG; 

 PPE – establishing a distribution hub for emergency supplies of 
PPE, receiving government PPE drops, securing our own more 
reliable supply lines of PPE and processing and responding to 
requests for PPE from the social care sector and organisations in 
difficulty; 

 Recovery – planning for recovery and restoration, undertaking 
impact assessments and coordinating multi-agency programmes 
to support individual, communities and businesses. 

56 In doing so, we have worked very closely with our LRF local authority 
partner, Darlington Borough Council. 

Local 

57 The council had been tracking the spread of the virus since the first 
media reports at the beginning of January 2020. 

58 The emerging threat was reported to Members via the Health and 
Wellbeing Board on 29 January 2020 and the Adult and Health Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 6 February 2020. 

59 In February, a COVID-19 working group was established, staff 
communications commenced and a planning exercise commissioned on 
the pandemic and the council’s response in line with its existing 
corporate emergency plan and business continuity management 
arrangements. 

60 On 4 March 2020, Exercise Cove took place with Extended 
Management Team and relevant strategic managers, it included a 
briefing on the outbreak and national planning assumptions and an 
exercise of the council’s corporate business continuity arrangements.  

Page 26



The exercise was repeated with all strategic managers on 11 March 
2020. 

61 Following the exercise, a COVID-19 planning group was established 
and a number of task and finish groups set up to take forward priority 
actions identified through the exercise.  The planning and task and 
finish groups were supported by a COVID-19 core working group, 
coordinating intelligence and data analysis, public health practitioner 
advice, communications and HR policy advice. 

62 On 12 March 2020, Corporate Management Team invoked the council’s 
corporate business continuity plan, putting in place strategic 
management groups to plan for major staffing interruptions and loss of 
premises. 

63 On 13 March 2020 communications were issued to the workforce to 
advise them of the position the council was taking in relation to 
safeguarding employees and requested that staff prepare and where 
possible work from home.  Where front line service employees needed 
to attend for work, precautionary measures were put in place, in 
agreement with trades unions. 

64 During the course of the pandemic, the council has revised its incident 
response arrangements, to dovetail with those established by the LRF, 
respond to national policy changes and to shift its focus from response 
to planning for recovery. 

65 The council has been proactive in working nationally and regionally to 
shape the response to the pandemic.  We have engaged with the Local 
Government Association, the County Councils Network, professional 
bodies, government Ministers and departments, MPs and other local 
authorities in the region, to understand and shape policy and coordinate 
efforts.  

66 Corporate Management Team met on a daily basis and rapidly put in 
place governance arrangements with regular daily monitoring of the 
spread and impacts of the pandemic, regular reporting from service 
areas and reviews of emerging national guidance.   

67 While council meetings have been suspended, decision-making has 
been maintained through delegated authority with Corporate 
Management Team scrutinising and overseeing the decisions being 
made. 

68 Cabinet Members and the leaders of the council’s political groups have 
continued to meet to be briefed on developments.  In addition, regular 
email briefings have been provided to all elected Members. 

Page 27



69 Local partners and stakeholders have been briefed and there has been 
regular liaison with local MPs and the other local authorities in the 
region. 

70 The following specific aspects of the council’s response are outlined in 
more detail below. 

Public health advice 

71 The council’s Public Health team led the initial planning and response to 
the outbreak, liaising with NHSE and PHE on the regional command 
and infection control arrangements, in line with the North East Influenza 
Pandemic Framework. 

72 The team has been proactive in assessing World Health Organisation 
and government guidance on the virus, providing public health advice in 
relation to the guidance to council services and partner organisations 
and advising the task and finish groups, service managers and partners 
accordingly. 

73 Through our collaborative approach to public health, County Durham 
and Darlington are unique in having in place a dedicated, public health-
commissioned community infection prevention and control team, which 
has been at forefront of our efforts to contain and mitigate the 
pandemic. 

Population health management 

74 The council has worked with the North East Commissioning Support 
Service to develop a population health management model, which has 
informed the council’s response. 

75 Working with the NHS, foundation trusts, primary care and community 
services and Durham University, the council has developed a 
comprehensive dataset which has been used to identify individuals who 
may be particularly vulnerable to COVID-19 as a disease and the wider 
impacts of the pandemic. 

76 The model and dataset informed the development of the community 
support hub the council established, the prioritisation of services and 
provision of support.  The dataset has been used to provide a local 
cross-check of the information provided by NHSE, which has focused 
solely on those deemed to be extremely vulnerable to the disease and 
at high clinical risk due to pre-existing conditions.  As a more 
comprehensive and up-to-date dataset, the population health 
management model has enabled Durham to go beyond this and 
augment the level of support offered to vulnerable people in the county. 

 

Page 28



Community support 

77 The council established a community support hub to provide support to 
the increasing numbers of people who were advised to self-isolate at 
home and those who were advised to ‘shield’ themselves for an 
extended period, minimising social contact as well as practising social 
distancing. 

78 On 24 March 2020 the government wrote to local authorities to confirm 
that it had commissioned the distribution of food parcels and medication 
for those shielding via national distribution contracts.  However, it asked 
local authorities to step-in in the initial weeks of set-up, to resolve any 
local issues, if there were any problems with the national arrangements 
including delayed or missing deliveries and meeting specific dietary 
requirements as initially, the food parcels consisted of a standard 
basket of basic food items. 

79 Local authorities were asked to establish and coordinate local 
emergency food supplies for the shielded population – the government 
provided councils with a one-off small supply of food items to support 
this (the council received four pallets of food on 3 April 2020). 

80 We were asked to coordinate ongoing social contact and support to the 
shielded population, as they were being encouraged to stay at home 
and to minimise contact with others for a period of at least 12 weeks.         

81 In addition, we were asked to coordinate local community and voluntary 
responses to supporting vulnerable people during the pandemic. 

82 On 27 March 2020, with the community and voluntary sector, the 
council established County Durham Together, a contact hub, support 
centre and volunteer bureau providing ongoing support to the shielding 
population but also other people vulnerable to the impacts of COVID-19. 

83 An emergency food and medication distribution service was 
established, whereby council employees and volunteers would obtain 
and deliver food and prescriptions to people in need.  This included the 
provision of food boxes for people shielding in instances where their 
national food parcels were yet to arrive, or where the food parcels did 
not meet their dietary requirements, and where individuals self-isolating 
had run out of food before they were able to organise their own food 
deliveries. 

84 While the commercial provision of food deliveries has improved 
significantly over the last six to eight weeks, Members may recall that in 
those first few weeks many people experienced difficulties in obtaining 
home delivery slots and there were shortages in local shops and 
supermarkets due to initial panic-buying.  The hub therefore played a 

Page 29



vital role in providing emergency access to food and medication for 
some of our most vulnerable residents.    

85 A telephone chat service called ‘Chat Together’ was established to 
combat loneliness, and working with the libraries service, a book 
delivery and e-books service was introduced. 

86 The council has also enhanced support for residents affected by 
domestic abuse, drug and alcohol problems and homelessness, all of 
which have been exacerbated by the pandemic. 

87 This has included offering additional short-term support with housing 
costs through the council’s Discretionary Housing Payment scheme, 
which can help tenants avoid losing their homes while they addresses 
their longer term financial issues.  Work has also taken place with local 
housing providers and charities to ensure that rough sleepers and other 
vulnerable people have been  supported through the pandemic.  To 
date, 19 rough sleepers have been housed and all have been supported 
to remain in their temporary accommodation    

88 To make people aware of the hub and the wide range of support 
available, a series of prioritised mailshots were undertaken with leaflets 
delivered to all those shielding – 25,909 people as at 19 May 2020, over 
75,000 other vulnerable people and then all 265,000 households in the 
county. 

89 In addition, initial and ongoing contact has been made with all those 
shielding who registered with the government as requiring assistance 
(13,271 people as at 19 May 2020), with those who said that they have 
no access to essential help, prioritised for assistance through proactive 
calls from the hub. 

90 As at 24 May 2020, a total of 4,819 calls into the hub call centre had 
been received, 3,125 of which required resolution and assistance, with 
the hub helping people with food deliveries, food poverty, be-friending, 
repairs, prescriptions, bills advice, welfare assistance, posting items, 
looking after pets and a whole host of other requests which people were 
unable to do themselves while shielding, self-isolating or otherwise 
deprived of access to their usual sources of support and assistance. 

91 Establishing the hub has been a massive undertaking in a very short 
period of time and involved the development of a full staffing structure 
operating seven days a week, policies, procedures and protocols, staff 
and volunteer training, supervision and welfare support and the 
redeployment of over 200 council employees from other service areas, 
in addition to 85 contracted Wellbeing for Life staff. 

 

Page 30



 

Local community action 

92 The hub has been built upon the key relationship between the council, 
its NHS partners and local community and voluntary organisations, 
working together to support individuals and local communities.  Durham 
Community Action has been instrumental in working with the council 
and the Area Action Partnerships to engage and support local 
community organisations in the response. 

93 When local government in County Durham was reorganised in 2009, 14 
local Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) were established across the 
county to support and promote local community action, and the AAPs’ 
local knowledge, networks and ability to respond quickly have been key 
to enabling and supporting the local community response to COVID-19. 

94 This was particularly important in the initial two to three weeks between 
the publication of the ‘Stay at home’ guidance on 12 March 2020 and 
the guidance on national and local support for those people shielding, 
which was published on 24 March 2020.  During that period and while 
the community support hub was being established, local Members, 
community groups and volunteers were active in organising and 
providing support to vulnerable people in their communities. 

95 Information on the many new groups and initiatives which were 
established as part of this community response was added to the 
council’s locate website which became a self-service portal providing 
access to local community and voluntary initiatives which could offer 
assistance.   

96 Appendix 3 provides a small selection of the many examples of local 
community initiatives supported by Members and the AAPs.    

97 The council established a volunteering bureau to engage and find 
meaningful and valued roles for volunteers across the full range of tasks 
and help required.  This has included joining-up different calls for 
volunteers including through the ‘goodsam app’, the national call for 
NHS volunteers and spontaneous offers of help.  As well as matching 
offers and requests for assistance, this has involved providing the 
necessary risk assessments, training and advice to ensure the health 
and safety of everyone involved. 

98 In addition to all the community support and action outlined above, the 
council has to acknowledge the fantastic way in which local 
communities responded to the pandemic, with local people helping each 
other, their neighbours and people who live nearby.  The value of this 

Page 31



has been immense and it very much supports our collective response - 
‘County Durham Together’. 

99 Similarly, the council and its partners’ task has been made all the more 
easier because the vast majority of County Durham residents observed 
the lockdown and cooperated with national guidance.  While the 
restrictions are beginning to be relaxed for many, the council will 
continue to stand shoulder to shoulder with the many thousands of 
residents who are still shielding and self-isolating and we will continue 
to provide support.       

Financial support for communities 

100 The council worked quickly to provide financial support to local 
communities.  

101 Building on the work of the community hubs, a total of £1.5 million was 
provided to the Area Action Partnerships across the county.  This 
provided an additional £100,000 per AAP to support local groups in 
delivering early help on the ground as well as supporting the council’s 
own volunteers.  This funding also helped to ensure local groups could 
continue to operate during COVID-19. 

102 Again, at a local level, Members’ neighbourhood budgets were adjusted 
to provide additional revenue funding of £1.7 million to support COVID-
19 response.  These two measures together ensured that a total of   
£3.2 million was provided to support local communities from a very early 
stage of the outbreak. 

Welfare support 

103 The council has retained a broad range of welfare support which 
provides support to those who need help.  Prior to the pandemic, the 
Welfare Assistance Scheme was reviewed to take account of the 
experience of those accessing the scheme and to address significant 
pressures that were seen in 2019/20, before the pandemic.  

104 A number of changes were made to the scheme to ensure more people 
could be provided with assistance as well as providing increased levels 
of support. This included increasing the limits for Daily Living Expenses 
awards by 20 percent, relaxing the criteria with regards to allowing one 
Daily Living Expenses award in a six month period and allowing two 
run-on weeks for an individual award.  Changes were also made to 
establish a supermarket voucher based scheme, which provides 
increased flexibility for vulnerable households. 

105 Welfare Assistance staff work with individuals and also point them to 
support available through local charities and organisations, which 

Page 32



augments the support available through the Welfare Assistant 
Scheme’s Settlement Grants.  Support is also provided to access low 
cost loans for replacement goods through the Credit Union with the 
council acting as a guarantor for referrals under the Welfare Assistance 
Scheme. 

106 Since the pandemic, there has been a significant increase in demand 
for the Daily Living Expenses element of the welfare scheme, with 
claims more than doubling across March, April and the early part of May 
2020.  Demand for Settlement Grants has remained broadly in line with 
last year.  The majority of Settlement Grant applications are from 
individuals being rehoused because they are homeless.  The council 
works closely with individuals and their new landlord as part of its 
welfare support service to assist people through what are often 
extremely difficult circumstances. 

107 The fact that the council has retained a Welfare Assistance Scheme 
when most councils have been unable to, has enabled this additional 
support to be provided to those that are most vulnerable in the county 
and has provided a valuable source of assistance.  

108 In addition to welfare support, the council moved quickly to implement 
measures to support residents with council tax payments.  The 
government announced funding of £500 million nationally to provide 
enhanced council tax support and set out a proposed reduction in 
council tax for working age council tax support claimants of £150.  In 
County Durham, the council already had a very beneficial council tax 
support scheme (78 percent of people claiming council tax support 
receive 100 percent reduction and have no bill to pay), which has 
allowed initial reductions of up to £300 to be made for those council tax 
support claimants who continued to have a liability.   This level of 
additional support is double the amount set out in the government’s 
guidance.  In total this additional support was provided to more than 
8,000 claimants.  

109 Arrangements were also put in place to suspend council tax recovery 
for all residents for a three-month period and to ensure options were 
available for residents to defer their council tax payments and direct 
debits where they were facing financial difficulty. 

Social care and commissioning 

110 In addition to maintaining our statutory social care and safeguarding 
responsibilities, the council has followed national guidance and 
requirements in supporting the NHS with hospital discharges. 

Page 33



111 To cope with the anticipated increase in COVID-19 related hospital 
admissions, the NHS sought to increase the speed of hospital 
discharges to free-up hospital beds, in advance of the rapid increase in 
admissions and during the peak as in-patients were treated and well 
enough to return home.  A ‘discharge to assess’ policy was introduced 
nationally whereby as soon as patients were assessed medically as 
being well enough to be discharged, they were moved off the wards and 
then discharged home within a matter of hours. 

112 Under this approach, care plans, which ordinarily are agreed and put in 
place prior to discharge, had to be rapidly developed after discharge by 
community and primary care services working in tandem with social 
care. 

113 The County Durham Integrated Care Partnership put in place a 
coordination hub to manage the process, which was also used to 
ensure that the community health and social care needs of the shielded 
population were met. 

114 Between 19 March and 1 May 2020, the hub received 568 hospital 
discharge referrals. 

115 With regards to commissioning, the council introduced daily monitoring 
and liaison with all commissioned service providers including residential 
and nursing care homes and domiciliary care to ensure that they were 
supported through the pandemic and that operational pressures were 
identified and responded to as quickly as possible. 

116 To date, over 13,600 calls have been made to providers to check their 
situation and to offer advice and help, including responding to additional 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) and Department of Health and Social 
Care (DHSC) monitoring requirements. 

117 Arrangements were also made for additional psychological support for 
care home staff should they need it. 

118 The council agreed 10 percent temporary funding increases for 
providers in addition to the annual inflationary uplift and made           
£13 million of payments upfront, as opposed to in arrears in order to 
help with funding and cashflow issues. 

119 In advance of the national and regional social care recruitment 
campaign, we launched our own local recruitment and development 
programme, through the County Durham Care Academy to encourage 
more people to pursue careers in the sector, helping providers with staff 
and skills shortages. To date we have had over 70 applications from 
people interested in training for roles in the care sector.  Upon 
registering an interest, applicants are immediately contacted, with DBS 

Page 34



checks fast tracked, followed by completing the remote training.  This 
has enabled the council to develop a “bank” of individuals with 
clearances and training undertaken to draw on either within the council 
or in commissioned care services as required. 

120 To support care homes to tackle and prevent the spread of infection in 
their establishments, we have established a multi-agency infection 
inspection team to review and support the implementation of effective 
infection control practice and procedures in the homes.  Public Health 
England has also provided advice, guidance and initial swabbing of 
cases in care homes.      

121 The supply of personal protective equipment (PPE) has been a major 
issue during the pandemic.  Whilst commissioned service providers are 
responsible for meeting their own PPE needs, it has been necessary for 
the council to step-in and help providers by providing over 480,000 
items of PPE to the social care sector from its own stock and that which 
we manage on behalf of the LRF.  In total up to 27 May 2020, the 
council has delivered over 815,000 items of PPE. 

122 The government has worked to provide LRFs with emergency PPE 
drops to address local shortages, and while these have been 
welcomed, the overall issues with PPE supply and distribution have 
affected the reliability of these drops, such that the council has had to 
work with other local authorities in the region to secure its own more 
reliable supply and in some instances, prioritise its own PPE use in 
order to direct supplies to support frontline social care services. 

123 In addition our commissioned public health services – stop smoking 
services, sexual health services, mental health, 0-25 health and drug 
and alcohol services have all taken a key role in continued service 
delivery.    

Support to businesses 

124 In order to support business, the council through Business Durham and 
Visit County Durham has been proactive in contacting businesses and 
offering advice and support and continuing to work in partnership with 
bodies such as the National Federation of Small Businesses, the North 
East Chamber of Commerce, Durham University and local and regional 
transport providers. 

125 The assistance offered has included regular surveys and direct contact 
and advice on financial support and re-orientating business models to 
mitigate the impacts and support the national response to the 
pandemic, through for example developing and manufacturing medical 
equipment, devices and PPE.  Appendix 4 includes a number of 

Page 35



examples of where the council has assisted local business to rise to the 
challenge. 

126 The tourism and hospitality sector has been particularly affected by the 
lock-down and is some months away from being allowed to re-open 
under the national recovery strategy. 

127 Visit County Durham has provided advice and support to the tourism 
sector and the council has promoted online alternatives to some of our 
flagship events such as Bishop Auckland and Seaham food festivals in 
order to continue to provide commercial opportunities to local 
producers.   

128 To support pubs, cafes and restaurants which have had to re-orientate 
their business, the council’s Community Protection service has provided 
advice and guidance on shifting to food delivery and take-away models, 
so that the businesses concerned are able to comply with the food 
standards and safety regulations involved. 

129 In addition, Community Protection has provided advice to businesses 
on understanding the coronavirus lockdown regulations and legislation 
and where necessary has raised the prospect of enforcement action to 
ensure compliance.  Our proactive and advisory approach has proved 
effective and  of 18 May, enforcement action has had to be taken 
against just three businesses which have operated in contravention of 
the regulations. 

130 Where permissible and safe to do so, the council has supported the 
continuation of major construction and regeneration projects in the 
county, including the Milburngate and new council headquarters 
developments in Durham City, Integra 61 to the south of Bowburn and 
the related improvements to Junction 61 of the A1(M).  Work has also 
continued on Horden rail station and a new mixed-use development at 
North Terrace Seaham has recently commenced.    

Financial support to businesses 

131 As with the support provided by the council to local communities, steps 
were put in place quickly to provide support to local businesses.  

132 Reductions in business rates liabilities totalling approximately            
£49 million were made across 2,248 business rates accounts in line 
with the government’s extended business rates relief schemes.   

133 As with council tax, recovery action was suspended on business rates 
accounts for a three-month period from 1 April 2020 and the council has 
deferred payments and realigned instalment plans where requested.  

Page 36



134 Local authorities were asked to establish a scheme for paying business 
grants to eligible businesses in their area, following the establishment of 
a £1.6 billion business grant fund by the government.  In County 
Durham, the council received a total allocation of £107 million from the 
national allocation and expects to pay out approximately £99 million to 
eligible businesses.  Processes were established quickly to pay local 
businesses the grants under this scheme and the council was praised 
by the government for its approach in making payments to businesses 
quickly – being recognised as one of the top three councils nationally.  
This has been a significant achievement given the size of the county 
and the number of businesses that needed to be contacted and paid.  

135 At the time of writing this report, 95 percent of the expected value of 
grants due to be paid, has been paid to local businesses, with work 
underway to target businesses that had not applied for the support 
available to them.  More recently, government has provided £5 million of 
funding for a new business grant scheme to provide further support.  
This support will be provided in line with the guidance that has been 
received as well as applying local flexibility where this is appropriate 
and affordable.  

136 Supplier relief schemes were introduced for key suppliers in line with 
government guidance.  Suppliers and immediate payments to suppliers 
were put in place to help with their cashflow. 

Education and Children’s Services 

137 The Education service has been proactive in providing advice and 
guidance to schools and parents in the county through all stages of the 
pandemic.  This included providing business continuity planning advice 
and information on the national planning assumptions and ensuring that 
schools received the relevant public health advice, during the initial 
weeks of the pandemic before the national decision to close schools for 
the majority of pupils. 

138 As schools prepared to close, curriculum development advice was 
provided to help schools provide remote/home learning packages and 
materials during lockdown and support and advice has been provided 
on how schools could continue to fulfil their Free School Meals 
commitments, prior to the government announcing the introduction of 
the national Free School Meals Voucher scheme. 

139 A key area of work in the initial weeks was in relation to the government 
decision that while schools should close for the majority of pupils, they 
were to remain open to provide childcare for the children of key 
workers.  The council has worked with schools to coordinate this 
provision, and where necessary to direct key workers to where provision 

Page 37



is available, if it has not proved possible for their local school to remain 
open. 

140 The council has worked with special schools to ensure that SEND 
provision continues to be available, which has meant ensuring that 
home to school transport provision still operates, but in line with social 
distancing measures to protect the health of pupils and the drivers 
involved. 

141 During the course of the lockdown, over 240 schools in the county 
remained open to support the children of key workers and this provision 
extended through the Easter school holiday and recent public holidays.   

142 At an early stage, the Education service began planning for the re-
opening of schools, working through what would need to be done to re-
commission school buildings where they had been closed for several 
weeks, how school spaces and classrooms could be reconfigured to 
support social distancing and what additional support may be required 
to help children get back into the rhythm and discipline of school life 
after so many weeks away from the classroom. 

143 When the government indicated when and how it envisaged schools 
should re-open, our precautionary planning was reviewed and advice 
and guidance provided to schools to help them assess the feasibility of 
re-opening to some pupils and the implications for those that are not 
expected to return to school until September.   

144 In the light of key issues beyond the council’s control - national scientific 
advice, delay in the track and trace system and high regional infection 
rates - we provided updated advice to schools on the safe reopening of 
schools.    

145 Due to these challenges, we took a proactive decision to advise schools 
to delay their phased reopening beyond the date set by national 
government.  Our priority continues to be the safety of children and staff 
in school settings and our position will be reviewed as the situation 
changes. 

146 With regards to safeguarding and children’s social care, the council has 
ensured that its statutory duties in relation to child protection, 
safeguarding and social care have continued to be met and that regular 
contact has been maintained with children known to social services, 
while the schools have been closed. 

147 This has included using a wider variety of social media and digital 
platforms to augment regular face-to-face contact.  This mixed 
approach has proved successful in maintaining high levels of contact 
with children. 

Page 38



148 The council has continued to discharge its responsibilities as a 
corporate parent to looked after children and care leavers; the chair and 
vice chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel have met with young people 
during this period and the service has continued to review the 
sufficiency strategy and support to foster carers. 

149 In addition, in a number of instances, council establishments providing 
different aspects of social care to children and young people and their 
families have remained open, but with reduced staffing levels and strict 
compliance with social distancing and infection control measures. 

Business continuity 

150 The council has an established business continuity management 
framework and following Exercise Cove, a specific task and finish group 
was established to quickly review all existing business continuity plans 
to ensure the framework was fit-for-purpose for responding to the 
pandemic. 

151 Services identified how they could maintain services by switching to 
home-working if council workplaces and service outlets/venues had to 
close; how they could prioritise and respond if they experienced much 
higher levels of staff absence due to sickness and self-isolation; and 
what operational changes they would need to make to continue to 
deliver services while complying with social distancing health and safety 
measures. 

152 Where council premises and venues have had to close and it has not 
been possible for staff to perform their job roles from home, wherever 
possible they have been redeployed to support other services in 
different job roles.  As at 18 May, 500 staff across the council have 
been redeployed, mainly into different council services but also into the 
voluntary sector as well.  

153 In the run-up to ‘Stay at home’ and lockdown, many staff shifted to 
working from home and the council provided additional ICT equipment, 
licences and support to enable this. 

154 The roll out of Office 365 had been completed in early 2020, with One-
drive for business and Microsoft Teams being made available through a 
phased adoption programme.  This was rapidly accelerated in response 
to the pandemic, and having the underlying infrastructure already in 
place, enabled the transition to remote working and working from home 
to happen at scale and at pace.  

155 As at 27 May 2020, approximately 60 percent of council staff are 
working effectively from home, wherever possible maintaining our 
expected standards of service delivery. 

Page 39



Neighbourhood services 

156 During late March, partly in response to the enactment of the 
Coronavirus Regulations, a rapid assessment of front line services was 
made.  Libraries and leisure centres closed on 18 March, followed a few 
days later by decisions to close customer access points, park and ride, 
play areas, recycling centres, festivals and events. 

157 Highways and construction maintenance were reduced to emergency 
response only with only winter maintenance continuing uninterrupted. In 
a number of instances, service delivery was re-designed and prioritised  
to enable continuity.  For example, our clean and green teams no longer 
work in groups, so that we comply with social distancing and can 
continue to carry out priority work such as emptying dog waste and litter 
bins, spraying weeds and cutting grass with fewer staff.   

158 Clean and green crews, along with other staff, drivers and council 
vehicles, have been re-deployed to ensure that we were able to 
maintain the weekly household refuse and recycling collection service, 
while complying with restrictions to the number of staff who could work 
in close proximity to each other or travel in the same vehicle cab. 

159 Protecting the waste collection service during the anticipated peak of 
the pandemic, involved temporarily suspending the start of the garden 
waste collection service.  However, as the council became more certain 
about its staffing levels we were able to re-design the collection 
arrangements and reinstate the service, with the collections for 2020 
commencing at the beginning of May.  Although refunds were offered if 
subscribers were not happy with the revised arrangements, we have 
had very few cancellations and in fact, a further 3,000 households have 
signed up to the service this year. 

160 Following government advice issued on 24 April, and on a prioritised 
basis, we have now recommenced a number of building and highways 
maintenance projects.  Initially, this was focussed on white-lining and 
carriageway resurfacing projects that would benefit from lighter than 
usual traffic volumes.  Subsequently, other construction work followed 
along with footway maintenance and structural work.  Full risk 
assessments were carried out and safe operating practices developed 
to ensure the safety of our employees and contractors.  The trade 
unions were consulted and fully engaged in the process.    

161 We also worked with the contracted provider of our household waste 
recycling centres (HWRCs) to reconfigure how the sites operate and the 
waste is handled.  The amendments to the Coronavirus regulations 
made journeys to the recycling centres allowable from 13 May and the 
council’s 12 HWRC sites re-opened to the public on 18 May.   

Page 40



162 The implementation of the Coronavirus regulations also introduced new 
responsibilities and challenges to the council’s regulatory teams, for 
example trading standards teams and environmental health officers are 
engaged in the monitoring of compliance against business closure 
requirements and several letters of advice and closure notices have 
been issued in this respect.  

On-line services 

163 A major aspect of maintaining service delivery has been the rapid 
expansion of on-line services and communications. 

164 As customer access points have had to close, the council has shifted to 
online and telephone customer support, introducing ‘live chat’ on our 
website to support customers with instant messaging with our customer 
service advisors as people look at pages on our website. 

165 With libraries closed, we have expanded our e-books service and 
introduced online story-telling for children. 

166 Durham Music Service has introduced music lessons and support via 
live video-messaging and where performances have had to be 
cancelled in our theatres and venues, where possible video content has 
been broadcast instead via the council’s social media platforms. 

167 Whilst we were not able to proceed with the wide range of 
commemorative events planned to mark the 75th anniversary of VE Day, 
we used our considerable digital archives to develop an online 
commemorative programme to enable people to learn about and 
understand the sacrifices made. 

168 With leisure centres closed, service users have been able continue to 
receive personal fitness advice and training through our new technogym 
app, which supports fitness and cardio sessions in people’s own homes. 

169 On 4 April 2020 the government published regulations which allowed 
local authorities to hold remote committee meetings.  To enable this in 
Durham, Office 365 including Microsoft Teams has been rolled out to 
Members and guidance and training provided to Members on how to 
conduct and participate in online council meetings.  Today’s meeting of 
Cabinet (5 June 2020) is the first remote meeting to be held online, with 
further remote meetings for other committees arranged to follow shortly.     

170 The council’s website and social media channels have been at the 
forefront of the rapid expansion of digital access.  Our COVID-19 pages 
on information on business grants and COVID-19 help received over 
11,000 and 7,700 page views respectively in the period from March 23 
to 26 May; and the number of followers we have on social media 

Page 41



increased by between 2.5 and 12 percent including an increase of over 
6.5 percent on Facebook to nearly 50,000 followers, May compared 
with March 2020 across the range of channels we use.        

Workforce and human resources management 

171 To respond to the pandemic and support the new working 
arrangements, the council introduced a comprehensive emergency 
human resources policy.  This included new absence management 
arrangements, flexibility in terms of carrying over outstanding annual 
leave, enhanced family and compassionate leave policies to support 
staff affected by COVID-19 and comprehensive guidance for 
employees, managers and councillors on dealing with the coronavirus 
outbreak. 

172 The policy was developed with the support of trades unions and 
provided the council with the ability to redeploy staff into other posts to 
respond to pressures across some services. 

173 A COVID-19 staff questionnaire seeking volunteers was issued to 9,500 
employees.  Over 3,500 employees completed the survey indicating 
their desire to volunteer for redeployment should the council need 
assistance. 

174 For those service areas where demand was critical and more staff 
resources were needed, volunteers were matched to posts to be filled, 
and training and development and induction was provided to enable 
staff to step into other roles.  

175 In order to safeguard the workforce, training and development was 
cancelled in the interim and apprentices were supported in terms of 
continuing their apprenticeships via on-line learning through local 
colleges and universities. 

176 Recruitment was reduced to essential only and where necessary was 
moved to video-call interviews and induction.  Consideration was also 
given to creative ways of filling critical vacancies such as recruitment of 
social work students into family worker posts. 

177 Recruitment for critical employees was fast tracked with DBS checks 
turned around within 24 hours.  

178 Regular ‘Frequently Asked Questions’ (FAQs) and communications 
have been issued to staff as any changes were introduced throughout 
the pandemic. 

179 Throughout our response, ensuring the health and safety of staff and 
service users has been our top priority and the council has worked very 

Page 42



effectively with the trade unions, who have been very constructive in 
protecting their members’ interest while working with us to ensure that 
we continue to deliver vital and valued services to Durham’s 
communities. 

180 Council managers and employees have been surveyed on their 
experiences working through the pandemic and feedback has been very 
positive.  There have been regular communications and engagement 
led by the council’s senior management to thank staff and support their 
physical and mental wellbeing. 

181 The council has continued to track and monitor staff absences and 
illness.  As at 27 May 2020, absence related to COVID-19 was 2.5 
percent with overall absence fairly consistent at 6.5 percent of the 
workforce.  This has enabled council services to continue to operate at 
around 93.5 percent capacity. 

Testing 

182 A key element of the national response has been the introduction of 
testing to monitor and enable containment of the spread of the virus and 
to develop intelligence which can support the development of 
treatments and vaccines. 

183 The Director of Public Health has worked with regional colleagues from 
NHSE, Public Health England and local NHS foundation trusts to 
develop and coordinate local testing programmes for NHS workers, 
social care staff and key workers from LRF responding organisations 
including the council (this is ‘pillar one’ of the national strategy for 
testing).  As at 28 May 2020, over 11,300 tests had been carried out via 
‘pillar one’ testing through County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust, with testing data shared to inform our understanding 
of local infection. 

184 As part of this, through our Occupational Health service, COVID-19 
testing is available for all council employees and elected Members who 
have coronavirus symptoms, with tests and results provided quickly 
through local hospitals in the county.  As at 26 May 2020, 164 
individuals had been screened, with 89 referred for a test. 

185 Since the end of April, the council has worked with the LRF on the roll-
out of mobile testing units under the National Testing Programme (‘pillar 
two’ of the national strategy for testing).  The effectiveness of the mobile 
testing units has been affected by the performance of the national 
testing booking website, with the local sites we helped to establish not 
listed and people being directed to other testing sites in Cumbria, 
Yorkshire and Scotland, and in some instances turned away when they 
had attended local sites because the national booking system failed.  

Page 43



The council wrote to the government on 6 May 2020 to raise the 
concerns about the booking arrangements.  We are still waiting for a 
response. 

186 On 10 May 2020, the government signalled its intention that local 
authorities and their Directors of Public Health should take the lead in 
local coordination of testing in the social care sector.   

187 On 11 May 2020 we wrote to PHE about data sharing between the 
National Testing Programme and local agencies, and local targeting 
and coordination of testing programmes on the ground.  For example 
while by 26 May 2020, the mobile testing teams had managed to 
perform 6,681 tests at mobile testing sites in the Durham and Darlington 
LRF area, data and intelligence from this testing had not been shared, 
which we could be used to inform the development and targeting of 
local infection control programmes, particularly in the social care sector.   

188 The council is now working with PHE and the Association of Directors of 
Public Health on ‘track and trace’ testing programmes and the 
establishment of a local outbreak control teams as the next steps in 
containing coronavirus outbreaks. 

Recovery planning 

189 From the very outset of planning its response, the council established a 
recovery task and finish group to begin the process of planning how the 
county and community life would adapt to a post COVID-19 world. 

190 When the LRF incident response arrangements were stood-up, the 
recovery task and finish group was incorporated into the LRF recovery 
cell to coordinate recovery planning across the entire LRF area. 

191 Working with colleagues from Darlington Borough Council, the LRF 
Recovery Cell established a number of sub-groups led by county 
council senior staff to work on the development of recovery plans for the 
following: 

(a) Business and economy; 

(b) Buildings, infrastructure and environment; 

(c) Health, welfare and communities; 

(d) Local authority services. 

192 Each group is developing plans under a simple structure: 

(a) understanding the data and intelligence associated with the sub 
group to understand the impact of COVID-19; 

Page 44



(b) identifying what needs to be recovered from, through an impact 
assessment; 

(c) designing interventions in a recovery plan linked to the 
government’s phased release of lockdown.  

193 The council has used this work to revise its own COVID-19 governance 
arrangements to shift its focus from response to recovery.  We have 
now established complementary recovery (longer-term, externally 
focussed) and restoration (shorter-term, internally-focused) groups to 
plan and manage how we restore council services and return to 
normality in line with the government’s national recovery strategy and 
our own local strategies, priorities and frameworks. 

194 Key elements of the work include: 

(a) reviewing how the council has responded, so that we can learn 
and improve our response if we experience further pandemic 
peaks; 

(b) identifying  any better ways of working, which were developed in 
adversity as part of our response, so that they can be retained to 
improve future working;        

(c) restoring services to the public as quickly as possible where it is 
safe to do so while minimising the risks of further infection 
outbreaks; 

(d) supporting our workforce through the changes and transition 
ahead; 

(e) supporting local testing and contact tracing programmes so that 
we are able to contain further outbreaks; 

(f) continuing to support key settings including residential and 
domiciliary care and the NHS;    

(g) providing ongoing support to communities, individuals and 
frontline workers affected by the pandemic including mental 
health support;  

(h) supporting business, industry, town centres and rural industries 
to recover and navigate through the anticipated downturn and 
recession; and 

(i) developing a data and intelligence framework to monitor and 
review progress. 

Page 45



195 The Office for National Statistics has reported8 the differential impacts 
the pandemic is having on different population groups, urban and rural 
areas and places which experience higher levels of deprivation.   

196 County Durham has a number of areas of deprivation and already has a 
poverty action plan in place.  Understanding the impact of COVID-19 
locally, and in particular the impact of COVID-19 on our rural, urban and 
more deprived areas will be a core part of the council’s recovery work 
and will inform the council’s (and wider partnership’s) poverty action 
strategy and other council-wide policies.  

Transition to transformation 

197 As the council moves into recovery it will be necessary to consider the 
significant changes to working practices and working patterns during the 
COVID-19 response.  Work is underway to consider how the new ways 
of working, new technology and different ways of working can form part 
of the council’s culture in the future, which will deliver many of the plans 
the council has in place as part of its transformation programme. 

198 At the end of last year, the County Durham Partnership developed a 
new vision for the county.  The council is in the process of developing a 
new council plan to better enable us to work with partners to achieve 
the vision and to continue to develop as an organisation.  Progressing 
this work will be key to moving beyond COVID-19 response and 
recovery.  We also need to ensure that the learning and new service 
models which resulted from the close community and business 
engagement that is very much a part of the COVID-19 response and 
recovery work, are a core part of future planning. 

Financial pressures and government funding 

199 The latest assessment of the council’s COVID-19 financial pressures 
was submitted to government on 15 May 2020.  In total, estimated 
expenditure pressures and income reductions that the council has 
forecast totalled approximately £50 million.  It is important to note that 
this is an estimate based on a number of assumptions in relation to 
income and expenditure.  

200 Two tranches of COVID-19 funding have so far been received from 
government.  An initial national allocation of £1.6 billion was allocated to 
local authorities based on the adult social care formula.  The council 
received £18.6 million from this allocation.  

                                         
8 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/d
eathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand17april 

Page 46



201 A second national allocation of funding (again totalling £1.6 billion) was 
allocated to local authorities based on population.  This allocation 
provided a larger allocation to district councils in two-tier areas.  The 
use of a population-based formula for distribution resulted in the council 
receiving £14.6 million, a reduction of £4 million (22%) from the first 
allocation.  In total, the council has been allocated £33.2 million COVID-
19 funding.  

202 The latest estimate of COVID-19 additional costs and foregone income 
totals £50 million, which suggests a £16.8 million shortfall if no further 
funding is received.  

203 However, the overall financial impact of COVID-19 on the council is 
unlikely to be known for some months and is dependent on the length of 
time lockdown measures remain in place, the timescale and extent of 
recovery for communities and local businesses, the extent to which 
demand returns for income based services and the extent of future 
government support.   

204 It is also evident that the council will require significant funds to invest in 
the recovery from COViD-19.  Whilst these costs cannot be quantified at 
this stage, they are likely to run into many millions to recognise the cost 
of revitalising local communities and regenerating the county. 

205 The impact of COVID-19 on the medium to longer term financial outlook 
for the council is very uncertain. The fair funding review and proposed 
implementation of 75 percent business rates retention will not now be 
implemented in 2021/22.  There remains significant uncertainty over 
how local government will be funded going forward. 

206 Funding for infection control in the care sector has been announced 
totalling £600 million nationally.  This funding is allocated based on the 
number of care beds across the country, with County Durham receiving 
£6.7 million.  National guidance has recently been received in relation to 
how this funding is to be allocated to the sector.  This funding 
supplements the financial support the council has already (and 
continues to) provide to the care sector through COVID-19, including: 

 payment of a  five percent inflationary uplift to the private care 
home sector; 

 cash flow support to the care sector totalling more than            
£13 million; 

 payment of an additional 10 percent uplift (around an additional 
£1 million per month) to the private care home sector and other 
social care providers (payable from 19 March 2020) to recognise 
pressures arising from COVID-19; 

Page 47



 provision of PPE to the care sector valued at circa £170,000. 

207 On 24 May 2020, funding of £50 million was announced to support 
‘Reopening High Streets Safely’, of which the council will receive 
£469,000.  The funding is intended help reintroduce safe and 
welcoming spaces for local businesses in line with social distancing 
guidelines. 

208 Representations have and continue to be made to government in 
relation to the financial issues the council and local government more 
generally are facing.   

Conclusion 

209 The coronavirus pandemic is one of the most profound challenges 
society has faced in more than a generation. 

210 Previous pandemics have lasted a number of years and with effective 
coronavirus vaccines yet to be produced, we have to anticipate that 
society will be affected by COVID-19 for some time to come. 

211 The council and its partners had emergency and business continuity 
management planning frameworks in place, which enabled us to 
prepare and respond promptly to the threat as it emerged.  However, 
we have had to respond dynamically and innovatively as the pandemic 
developed, revising our approach as the national coronavirus action 
plan and recovery strategy evolved. 

212 In line with the national response, the council has worked regionally and 
locally to protect our communities from the virus and to support those 
affected by the pandemic, economically, socially and in relation to their 
own physical and mental health.  County Durham communities 
themselves have been a major force in this and have made an immense 
contribution to the ‘County Durham Together’ response. 

213 Council employees also have risen to the challenge.  In line with our 
council values, they have demonstrated their willingness to work 
flexibly, adopt new ways of working and support each other, focussing 
on what needs to be done to maintain services and support local 
communities.   

214 Our focus has now turned to restoring council services and laying the 
foundations for recovering from the pandemic.  While there is a 
possibility that we may experience secondary outbreaks and pandemic 
peaks, recovering from COVID-19 will set the context for future 
community and council planning and decision-making in the county as 
we develop and implement the new county vision and council plan, 

Page 48



within the context of the significant financial pressures we can expect to 
face. 

  

Background papers 

 None 

Other useful documents 

 North East Pandemic Influenza Framework 

 

Author(s) 

Jane Robinson    Tel:  03000 267355 

John Hewitt     Tel: 03000 261943 

Amanda Healy    Tel:  03000 264323 

Kevin Edworthy    Tel:  03000 268045  

Page 49



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Under section 2B NHS Act 2006 (inserted by Section 12 of the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012), local authorities have a statutory duty to take such 
steps as they consider appropriate for improving the health of the people in 
their area.   

The Local Authorities (Public Health Functions and Entry to Premises by Local 
Healthwatch Representatives) Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/351) make 
provision for the steps to be taken by local authorities in exercising their public 
health functions. This includes providing information and advice for the 
purpose of protecting individuals in the area of the authority from events or 
occurrences which threaten, or are liable to threaten, their health, and may in 
particular include arrangements to deal with infectious diseases. 

Section 73A (1) of the 2006 Act, (inserted by section 30 of the 2012 Act), 
gives the Director of Public Health responsibility for exercising their local 
authority’s functions in planning for, and responding to, emergencies that 
present a risk to the public’s health. 

Under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, local authorities also have a duty to 
collaborate with others to protect the public, which includes promoting 
business continuity and resilience.  The council is designated as a category 
one responder under the Act, and as such collaborates with other agencies 
through the County Durham and Darlington Local Resilience Forum. 

The Coronavirus Act 2020 gives further powers to government to slow the 
spread of the virus; reduce the resourcing and administrative burden on public 
bodies; and limit the impact of potential staffing shortages on the delivery of 
public services.  Under regulation, this includes postponing local elections 
including that of the County Durham and Darlington Police and Crime 
Commissioner due in May 2020, postponing the annual meeting of the council 
and allowing existing postholders to continue in office until an annual meeting 
is able to be held; and introducing ‘virtual’ council and committee meetings in 
the light of the lockdown and ongoing social distancing measures.    

Finance 

The council has been allocated government grant of £33.2 million to help 

cover the additional costs and lost income associated with coronavirus.  At 

this point, it is estimated that the additional costs and income foregone will 

amount to £50 million.  The longer term financial implications for the council 

are at this stage difficult to quantify, and are dependent on the duration of 

lockdown and the speed of economic recovery.  Future MTFP reports to 

Page 50



Cabinet will need to consider the financial risks relating to the longer term 

impact of COVID-19 as well as the future policy direction of local government 

finance. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Climate Change 

The lockdown and reduction in traffic and building use has generally been 

seen as having a number of environmental benefits including reduction in 

noise, light and air pollution, emissions and carbon reduction.  Aspects of this 

may continue with walking and cycling being promoted as safer, socially-

distanced modes of travel. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

500 employees were redeployed during  the COVID-19 response and all of 

the council’s main HR policies and procedures were revised as part of a 

comprehensive emergency HR policy. 

Accommodation 

It has been necessary to close a number of council premises as part of the 

national lock-down and in some instances, where the council is an 

accommodation provider to business/commercial tenants, rent and/or rates 

relief has been offered to support tenants during the lockdown.  A Facilities 

Management Task and Finish Group has been established under the council’s 

recovery and restoration plan, to ensure that closed premises are re-

commissioned and safe before they are opened again. 

Risk 

A risk assessment of the impact of the pandemic has been undertaken by a 

risk management task and finish group as part of the council’s governance 

arrangements.  Risk assessments have been undertaken as part of the 

Page 51



council’s business continuity and response arrangements to ensure the health 

and safety of staff, volunteers and service users. 

Procurement 

In order to respond to the pressures the council faced, emergency 

procurement procedures were adopted in line with government coronavirus 

legislation and procurement regulations. 

  

Page 52



 

Appendix 2:  Chronology of Government announcements 

 

10 February 2020 

The Secretary of State for Health and Social Care introduced regulations to 

reduce the risk of human-to-human transmission in the UK by keeping 

individuals in isolation where public health professionals believed there was a 

reasonable risk an individual may have the virus.  The regulations were used 

to enforce the policy of asking individuals who had recently returned from 

countries badly affected by the virus to go into quarantine or to self-isolate for 

a period of time.  Over time the number of prescribed countries and regions 

increased.   

25 February 2020 

The government published guidance for employers and businesses, which at 

that time focused on what action to take in the workplace if an individual was 

confirmed or suspected as having COVID-19, or had recently returned from 

one of the prescribed countries badly affected by the virus.  As the pandemic 

spread and the national strategy changed, the guidance was revised a 

number of times. 

3 March 2020 

The government published its coronavirus action plan which was based on 

four strategic phases – contain; delay, research; and mitigate.  

6 March 2020 

The Scientific Advisory Group for Emergencies (SAGE)  published a set of 

planning assumption for a reasonable worst case scenario for the pandemic.  

These included a general infection rate of 80 percent of the population, 

between 17 and 21 percent of the workforce being absent from work in the 

peak weeks of the outbreak and an estimate that approximately 50 percent of 

the workforce would need to take time off work, either due to sickness or 

caring responsibilities over the full course of the pandemic. 

12 March 2020 

The government published its ‘Stay at home’ guidance which set out what 

individuals should do if they experienced coronavirus symptoms, however 

mild.  At this point the government recognised that the virus was spreading 

generally throughout the country and could no longer be contained through 

international travel restrictions and by contact tracing around suspected or 

Page 53



confirmed cases.  In terms of its action plan, this signified the shift from 

‘contain’ to ‘delay’. 

16 March 2020 

Imperial College London published a study which indicated that significant 

action was needed to avoid the NHS becoming overwhelmed and the number 

of deaths escalating much higher than in the worst case scenario initially 

envisaged.  The report advocated widespread social distancing, in conjunction 

with other measures including school closures, case isolation, household 

isolation and the shielding of vulnerable groups, to control the spread of the 

pandemic to more manageable levels.  The study prompted the government to 

advise the public to avoid all unnecessary contact and travel and to stay away 

from pubs and theatres.   

18 March 2020 

The government announced that all schools were to close until further notice.  

Further education colleges and universities closed too and summer GCSE 

and A-level examinations were cancelled. 

20 March 2020 

Pubs and restaurants were ordered to shut and the public urged to practice 

social distancing wherever possible on a voluntary basis. 

23 March 2020 

A UK-wide lockdown was announced, backed by police powers to enforce 

social distancing and closure regulations. 

25 March 2020 

Emergency legislation was introduced and passed in just four days, with the 

Coronavirus Act 2020 receiving Royal Assent on 25 March 2020.  The 

legislation gives further powers to government to slow the spread of the virus; 

reduce the resourcing and administrative burden on public bodies; and limit 

the impact of potential staffing shortages on the delivery of public services. 

2 April 2020 

The government announced a significant expansion in the coronavirus testing 

programme with a target of 100,000 tests per day by the end of that month. 

6 April 2020 

The government wrote to local authorities to confirm that they would be 

allowed to hold virtual council meetings and that the 2020/21 annual meetings 

of councils would be postponed.  In addition, all forthcoming local elections 

and other polls including the police and crime commissioner elections were 

postponed to 2021.   

Page 54



16 April 2020 

The government extended the lockdown for a further three weeks and set out 

five tests which would need to be satisfied before the lockdown restrictions 

were eased. 

23 April 2020 

The first human trials in the UK of a test vaccine commenced. 

4 May 2020 

The first human trials in the UK of plasma treatments commenced. 

10 May 2020 

The Prime Minister made a statement on the roadmap to recovery and the 

gradual relaxation of restrictions as and when it deems it is safe to do so. 

11 May 2020 

The government published ‘Our plan to rebuild: the UK Government’s COVID-

19 recovery strategy’.  This set out a five point scale to indicate the level of 

threat posed by COVID-19 to society and a phased approach to recovery, with 

incremental steps to relax control and public protection measures. 

13 May 2020 

The government amended its existing regulations under the Coronavirus Act 

to enable the phased relaxation of lockdown measures including allowing 

people to visit HWRCs the re-opening of garden centres and some outdoor 

sports facilities. 

24 May 2020 

The government announced the establishment of a £50 million Reopening 

High Streets Safely Fund, to adapt and re-shape high street shopping areas 

and business districts to make them safe and welcoming spaces, in line with 

social distancing guidelines.  The council will receive £469,000 from the fund. 

25 May 2020 

The Prime Minister confirmed the government’s intention that schools should 

plan to re-open to some pupils from 1 June 2020 and that non-essential retail 

should begin to plane to re-open from 15 June 2020.   

 

  

Page 55



 

Appendix 3:  Examples of local community support initiatives 

 

Bishop Auckland and Shildon 

Health Express and The Auckland Project set up a joint initiative aiming to 

provide food and meals to those in most need in the Bishop Auckland and 

Shildon areas. 

With funding support via the Neighbourhood budgets of local Members, the 

project delivers free frozen meals and hampers of food products and 

ingredients to people in hardship in the area who have been advised to self-

isolate and as a result have difficulty accessing food. 

Bishop Middleham, Chilton, Ferryhill and West Cornforth  

The 4 Together Area Action Partnership (AAP) which covers Ferryhill, Bishop 

Middleham, West Cornforth and Chilton turned their office into a local food 

distribution hub, distributing food that has been donated to the AAP. 

More than 40 cases of milk, plus yoghurts, fruit, vegetables and fruit juices, 

alongside a number of other items, have been donated to 4 Together and are 

being shared amongst local residents in need. 

The AAP team has also assisted local groups to create activity packs for 

children and young people in their area, including print-outs for rainbows, 

stress balls and packs of pens and notebooks to keep children busy during 

their time indoors.  Future packs will also provide fruit and vegetable vouchers 

to those in need, which can be exchanged at the local fruit and vegetable 

shop in Ferryhill. 

Brandon and Esh Winning 

Mid Durham AAP is supporting Brandon Primary School and Esh Winning 

Primary School to keep children fed during the pandemic.  

The AAP has granted £1,000 of funding to each school, to fund food projects 

for families in need. 

Page 56



Esh Winning Primary School benefitted from the AAP's coronavirus response 

fund, whilst Brandon Primary School benefitted from both the coronavirus 

response fund and the Neighbourhood budget available to local Members. 

Brandon Primary School is using the funding to boost initiatives such as 

providing packed lunches and food parcels to families who normally receive 

free school meals, and who are struggling to afford food with their children at 

home during lockdown.  Using additional funding from the Greggs Foundation, 

the school is also providing the high proportion of children who normally 

attend its breakfast club each morning with free breakfast packs. 

The AAP's donation and the school's funds will be combined with funding from 

Believe Housing and Brandon and Byshottles Parish Council, to purchase and 

deliver food parcels to all families who contact the school in need. 

Esh Winning Primary School is supporting parents and carers whose finances 

have been hit hard by the coronavirus outbreak, by delivering emergency food 

bags containing three days' worth of food, to help protect and support 

vulnerable and at-risk families.  

The money supplied by Mid Durham AAP will help fund the school's scheme 

which, as well as supporting its own pupils, is also now supporting families 

from the village's other school, Our Lady Queen of Martyrs. 

A parent support advisor is also helping families to access additional services 

and the school has become the temporary location of the Esh Winning Food 

Bank too. 

Crook, Willington and Tow Law 

Over what would have been Easter school holidays period, Jack Drum Arts 

developed online courses and arts and crafts activity packs for children and 

young people in Crook, Willington and Tow Law and surrounding villages. 

The group has since received £13,000 from the 3 Towns Partnership (the AAP 

for the area) to cover their monthly overheads for the next three months so 

that they can run creative online classes and deliver arts and crafts activity 

packs to families in need. The grant will also enable Jack Drum Arts to 

commission a further 10 weeks of online courses aimed at children, adults, 

families, older and vulnerable people, with artists hosting virtual sessions 

including singing, dancing and music technology. 

 

Page 57



Durham City 

Durham City AAP has been working with King's Church Durham in responding 

to referrals from the community support hub, to help a number of self-isolating 

people. 

Building on its current Friends and Neighbours service, which operates in the 

Sherburn Road and Gilesgate areas of Durham City, King's Church Durham 

has received £2,000 from Durham AAP to extend its support into Newton Hall, 

Framwellgate Moor and other parts of the city. 

The services offered include telephone befriending and free food parcels to 

residents in Sherburn Road and Gilesgate, as well as providing shopping 

support to residents in Sherburn Road, Gilesgate, Newton Hall, Framwellgate 

Moor and other areas of Durham City. 

East Durham 

Food parcels and essential items are being delivered to vulnerable residents 

in East Durham by local groups awarded funding by East Durham Area Action 

Partnership (AAP) 

Around £4,000 has been awarded to East Durham Trust, which has seen a 

400 per cent increase in requests for food parcels since the lockdown began. 

The trust has recruited around 20 new volunteers in response to the demand 

and, building on its existing People's Takeaway service, has been working 

with community groups in the area to deliver meals to isolated people. 

Another £4,800 has been awarded to Dawdon Youth and Community Centre 

to help support its foodbank, allowing it to expand the service to include hot 

meal deliveries.  Since the service expanded, the centre has delivered more 

than 450 food parcels and meals to the community as part of its coronavirus 

support service. 

Murton Parish Council has also been awarded £3,000 to deliver emergency 

food parcels to residents who are in isolation.  The funding will allow the 

parish council to deliver more than 600 parcels to those in the community. 

Lanchester 

A funding grant from Mid Durham AAP has supported Willow Burn Hospice in 

Lanchester with its running costs during the coronavirus outbreak.  

Page 58



The nurse-led hospice offers specialist supportive, palliative and end of life 

care, including in-patient care, respite, day services and bereavement and 

family support, and is one of few rurally based hospices in the country. 

It costs £1.2 million to operate Willow Burn each year and the hospice team is 

responsible for raising 70 per cent of this through grants, fundraising, retail 

income and donations. 

However, due to the lockdown restrictions, the charity's shops and café have 

closed and local fundraising has fallen significantly.  The AAP, through its own 

coronavirus support funding and Neighbourhood Budget from local Members 

has provided £10,000 to support the hospice over this period.  

Newton Hall 

Emergency funding from the AAPs has been used to support community 

venues suffering from lost income during the lockdown period. 

One example is Newton Hall Community Centre which has received a grant of 

£1,700 to cover essential bills and to enable it to remain financially viable. 

With essential costs covered, the community centre has remained open and 

the building is now being used by Durham Foodbank, which needed extra 

space as it supports more families who are struggling as a result of the 

coronavirus outbreak.  Staff at the foodbank are using the centre as 

somewhere to pack and prepare family food parcels for the Durham area. 

Spennymoor 

Spennymoor Area Action Partnership (AAP) has supported local groups that 

have stepped up to the COVID-19 emergency through its Targeted Small 

Grants Fund. 

One such group that is benefitting from the extra money is a dedicated team 

organised by Spennymoor Town Council which is pulling together care 

packages for vulnerable people in the area.  Funding from Spennymoor AAP 

and housing provider Livin, contributed to over 50 packages being shopped 

for and delivered. 

Asda in Spennymoor allowed a special shop at 7am and provided 150 free 

bags for life.  Council staff and Members made up the packages at 

Spennymoor Town Hall and helped with delivery alongside volunteers from 

the Helping Spennymoor group and The Learning Library.  

Page 59



Spennymoor Police, The Learning Library and Solan Connor Fawcett Family 

Cancer Trust supplied details of clients who needed an extra helping hand. 

Stanley 

PACT House in Stanley has dealt with over 1,250 issues since opening its 

Coronavirus Crisis Hotline, these have ranged from things as seemingly trivial 

as posting letters, to supplying families with food who have lost employment or 

due to heath issues have been forced into isolation. 

They have created a six day a week fresh food bank, cooking food on the 

premises to be frozen into easily distributed cartons.  Satellite foodbanks have 

also been set up by the organisation in outlying villages.  Crisis packs are 

available to those in dire need, consisting of a range of fresh and tinned 

goods, bread, eggs, toiletry and sanitary products.  They also have a team of 

volunteers who can shop for people with specific needs such as diabetes, and 

also collect and deliver prescriptions and medications. 

 Upper Teesdale and Weardale 

Upper Teesdale Agricultural Support Service (UTASS) has been supported by 

the AAPs for Teesdale and Weardale to introduce a new ‘Cook Your Own Tea 

@ Home’ offer, which is a variation of its usual holiday activities where 

children and young people would gather together at a local centre to cook a 

balanced meal to enjoy.  

UTASS has adapted the service and is offering a free fortnightly service where 

a recipe bag including locally sourced ingredients is delivered to a safe, pre-

arranged location so members can create their meal at home with their 

families.  

The project has received £1,380 from the AAPs as well as financial support 

from NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group, BBC Children in 

Need and local which support UTASS. 

 

 

 

Page 60

https://www.thenorthernecho.co.uk/news/local/northdurham/durham/


Appendix 4:  Examples of business support initiatives 

 

Business Durham has assisted a number of businesses to diversify and 

expand in response to the pandemic:  

 Bishop Auckland-based carton manufacturer JSB Enterprises, has 
diversified into PPE production by adapting a number of its cardboard 
cutting machines to create protective visors.  The company initially 
supplied the visors locally to care homes, bus services and other 
frontline organisations.  However, it has expanded production following 
national requests for protective visors which has enabled the business 
to safeguard six jobs including those of two staff members recruited 
through the council’s Employability Durham scheme. 

 Peterlee-based Alexander Technologies Ltd is recruiting 100 jobs.  
The company manufactures storage battery packs, some of which are 
used in medical equipment. 

 A Seaham-based company that is a subcontractor to Serco has won a 
contract under the national track and trace programme, creating 170 
new jobs over a 12 week period.  Recruitment has commenced, but 
the company has asked that their name is not released. 

 Sedgefield-based Kromek has moved into additional space in 
Discovery 1 at NETPark to develop and manufacture ventilators. 

 Magnitude Biosciences Ltd, a Durham University spin-out, has moved 
into lab space in Plexus 2 at NETPark and have acquired Invermis Ltd, 
a specialist transgenics services provider  Their existing training 
workshops and services will now be conducted from NETPark, 
allowing the company to service larger projects. 

 IBEX Innovations, based at NETPark, has raised more than £500,000 
to commercialise a product which aims to improve detection of breast 
cancer. The funding has been secured from the North East Venture 
Fund, along with IP Group and a number of private investors. 

 Technimark in Middleton-in-Teesdale is making filters for ventilators as 
part of the COVID-19 response.  The council’s planning team has 
provided advice to enable the company to maximise its space and 
consider options to increase manufacturing capacity on-site.  

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board 

 19 June 2020 

 Refresh of the Work Programme 

2020/21 for the Corporate Overview and 

Scrutiny Management Board  

 

Report of John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
(COSMB) with the updated work programme for 2020/21.  

Executive summary 

2 Overview and Scrutiny work programmes are designed to be flexible to 
accommodate items which may arise throughout the year. For 2020/21 
this flexibility is essential to enable the scrutiny function to respond to 
the changing landscape of the COVID-19 pandemic.  

3 The proposed COSMB work programme has been framed around 
COVID-19 and in the context of the new shared County Durham Vision 
2035 based on the three strategic ambitions – ‘more and better jobs’, 
‘long and independent lives’ and ‘connected communities’.  

4 The work programme has been developed to reflect new powers which 
enable local government meetings to be held remotely during this 
period. Holding virtual meetings has prompted us to consider how best 
to carry out the scrutiny role in these new and challenging 
circumstances.  

Recommendation(s) 

5 COSMB is recommended to: 

(a)  Receive and comment on the proposed COSMB work programme 
for   2020/21. 

(b)  Agree the work programme for 2020/21 as attached and the 
flexibility it offers to respond to emerging issues. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 6



Background 

6 COSMB has a strong focus on the MTFP and the Transformation 
Programme and this will continue in 2020/21. The Council’s ongoing 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the recovery process will be 
reflected in these reports to COSMB.  

7 Scrutiny has adapted to the unprecedented situation of a global 
pandemic with a flexible and pragmatic approach to the 2020/21 work 
programme. New regulations enable committee meetings to be held 
remotely and formal scrutiny meetings will be held virtually for the 
foreseeable future.  

8 To assist with the new approach to meetings we propose to  keep 
agendas short to ensure virtual meeting time is focussed on those 
matters which are the highest priority. Where agreed by the Committee, 
regular overview reports will instead be circulated separately via email 
for comment and information. We hope that by doing so, we can help 
make the process of moving meetings on-line as smooth as possible 
and manage our workload efficiently and effectively. 

9 As we all become more familiar with holding remote meetings, we will 
review our agendas and work programmes with the Chair/Vice Chair, 
and make any necessary changes in consultation with the Committee.  

10 This prioritisation of the work programme will enable the scrutiny 
function to operate flexibly and take into consideration any changing 
national, regional or local responses to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

11 The scrutiny work programmes are informed by:  

 County Durham Vision 2035 

 Council Plan 

 Cabinet’s Notice of Key Decisions 

 Sustainable Community Strategy 

 Partnership plans and strategies  

 Performance and budgetary control data 

 Changes in government legislation 

 Key questions for improving performance. 

12 In addition, they focus on the four priorities of the Council’s 
Transformation Programme:  

 Redesign our services to better meet the customer’s needs at 

reduced cost to the Council  

 Help communities become more resilient and self-reliant 

 To move our partnership working from good to great  

Page 64



 To become renowned for our skilled and flexible workforce and 

our employee engagement.  

COSMB Work Programme 

13 During 2019/20, Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
has undertaken budgetary and performance monitoring, scrutiny 
reviews and considered overview presentations.  

14 Scrutiny review work included:  

 Scrutiny of the Council’s MTFP process and Budget; 

 Update on review of Attendance Management. 

15  Areas of overview activity: 

 Scrutiny input into the County Durham Vision 2035 

 Digital Strategy and ICT and digital developments 

 New statutory scrutiny guidance  

 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

 Customer Feedback: Complaints, Compliments and Suggestions 
Reports 

 Overview of performance based on the priorities in the Council 
Plan  

 Overview of partnership work including the County Durham 
Partnership and Area Action Partnerships 

 Transformation Programme. 

16  Budgetary and performance monitoring: 

 Quarterly budgetary monitoring for Resources and the former 
Transformation and Partnerships Directorate. 

 Quarterly corporate performance monitoring overview for the 
whole Council. 

Areas for consideration in the COSMB Work Programme 
 
17 COSMB are asked to agree the proposed work programme for next 

year in the context of the challenges the Council faces primarily the 
response to and recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, ongoing 
austerity, the shared County Durham Vision 2035 and the Council’s 
Transformation Programme. 

 

Page 65



18 The work programme includes an indication of those reports which will 
be considered by COSMB at a remote meeting and those which will be 
circulated to members. The dates when reports are taken to COSMB or 
circulated may flex with the additional demands on and capacity of 
services during the COVID-19 response period. 

19 COSMB may also wish to give particular consideration to issues raised 
in previous meetings.  

Background papers 

 None 

 

Contact: Jenny Haworth Tel:  03000 268071 

 Clare Luery Tel:  03000 265978 

  

Page 66



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None 

Finance 

None 

Consultation 

None 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None 

Climate Change 

None 

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

None 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

The Overview and Scrutiny work programme is an important element of the 

Council’s governance and risk management arrangements. 

Procurement 

None 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 2   
Overview and Scrutiny Draft Work Programme 
2020/21 
 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (COSMB)  
 
Lead officer: Jenny Haworth 
 
Key service contact: Jeff Garfoot 
 

 More and better jobs  

 People live long and independent lives 

 Connected communities 

 Excellent council 
 

Note: 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Review – A systematic six monthly review of 
progress against recommendations/action plan 
 
Scrutiny/Working Group – In-depth review/light touch review 
 
Overview/progress – Information on an issue; opportunity to 
comment, shape, influence, progress with a scrutiny review 
 
Performance/Budget – Ongoing quarterly monitoring performance 
reports/budgets 
 

 

 
Item 

 
When  

(subject to 
management 
arrangements 

for remote 
meetings) 

 
Approach during COVID-

19 response period 

 report to COSMB 

 circulate to COSMB 
members via email 

 
Who 

 
Outcome 

 
Comment 

O/S Review      

Scrutiny/Working 
Group (light touch / 
in-depth review) 

     

Budget and MTFP 
process 
 
 
 

  
17 Dec 2020 
 
22 Jan 2021  
 

Report to COSMB Jeff Garfoot/ Jenny 
Haworth 

To enable scrutiny 
members to comment 
and feed into the MTFP 
and budget setting 
process.  

To look at any 
issues and or 
reviews linked 
to achieving 

P
age 69



 

 
Item 

 
When  

(subject to 
management 
arrangements 

for remote 
meetings) 

 
Approach during COVID-

19 response period 

 report to COSMB 

 circulate to COSMB 
members via email 

 
Who 

 
Outcome 

 
Comment 

 11 Feb 2021 
 
 

savings within 
the MTFP 
 

Update reports 
considered by 
COSMB 

Overview/Progress      

Transformation 
Programme, 
including: 

 

 Transformation 
and ICT 

̵ Smarter HR 
̵ Smarter 

ICT 
 

 Business support 
services 
 

 Digital 
transformation 
update  
– services 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
15 Oct 2020 
 
15 Oct 2020 
 
 
19 Mar 2021 
 
 
19 Mar 2021 
 
 
 
22 Jan 2021 

Report to COSMB  
 
 
 

 Andy 
Palmer/Vicki 
Murray/ Alison 
Lazazzera  
 
 

 Andy 
Palmer/Sarah 
Armstrong 

 
 

 Vicki Murray 
 
 

To update members on 
the Transformation 
Programme. 
 
HR policies and practices 
have been reviewed 
 
Staff expectations 
clarified in terms of 
working smarter 
 
Managers responsibilities 
and training in place 
 
Large numbers of staff 
currently home working 
using ICT 
 
OD – Strategy & delivery 
plan in place with projects 

Members’ 
information  

P
age 70



 

 
Item 

 
When  

(subject to 
management 
arrangements 

for remote 
meetings) 

 
Approach during COVID-

19 response period 

 report to COSMB 

 circulate to COSMB 
members via email 

 
Who 

 
Outcome 

 
Comment 

 Organisational 
Development 

 

 Alison 
Lazazzera/Andy 
Palmer 

 

being taken forward 
including:  
Management and 
leadership development 
 
Corporate and service 
Workforce development 
 
New ways of working and 
expectations 
 
Values and behaviours 
being embedded across 
the workforce 
 

Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers 
quarterly report 
 
 

Quarter 4 
2019/20 
18 Sept 2020 
 

Quarter 1 
2020/21 
15 Oct 2020 
 
Quarter 2 
17 Dec 2020 
 

Quarter 3 
11 Feb 2021 

Report to COSMB Kamila Coulson-
Patel 

To inform members of the 
Council’s use of powers 
under the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 (RIPA) on a 
quarterly basis. 

Members’ 
information  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 71



 

 
Item 

 
When  

(subject to 
management 
arrangements 

for remote 
meetings) 

 
Approach during COVID-

19 response period 

 report to COSMB 

 circulate to COSMB 
members via email 

 
Who 

 
Outcome 

 
Comment 

Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers 
annual report 
 

15 Oct 2020 Report to COSMB Kamila Coulson-
Patel 

To inform members of the 
Council’s use of powers 
under the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 (RIPA). 

Members’ 
information  
 

Customer Feedback 
– Compliments, 
Complaints and 
Suggestions quarterly 
report 
 
 
 
 

Q4 2019/20 
and  
Q1 2020/21 
18 Sept 2020 
  
Q2 17 Dec 
2020  
 
Q3 19 Mar 
2021   
 

Circulate via email Vicki Murray To inform Members of the 
Customer Feedback 
report on a quarterly 
basis. 
To present key messages 
in relation to the 
management and 
handling of statutory 
representations for 
Children and Adults 
Social Services. 

Members’ 
information  

Customer Services – 
First Point of Contact 

15 October 
2020 

Circulate via email Vicki Murray To update members on 
progress with First Point 
of Contact project. 

Members’ 
information 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Annual 
Report and six 
monthly report to 
Council 

18 September 
2020 

Report to COSMB Jenny Haworth Members to sign off the 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report before 
submission to Council. 

Members’ 
information, and 
circulated 
widely 

P
age 72



 

 
Item 

 
When  

(subject to 
management 
arrangements 

for remote 
meetings) 

 
Approach during COVID-

19 response period 

 report to COSMB 

 circulate to COSMB 
members via email 

 
Who 

 
Outcome 

 
Comment 

Notice of Key 
Decisions 

At each 
COSMB 

Report to Committee Jackie Graham To keep members 
informed of any additions 
or amendments. 

Members’ 
information 

MTFP delivery 
updates  

Cabinet report 
Quarterly 
 

Circulate via email Andy Palmer To provide members with 
an update on the delivery 
of the MTFP.  

Members’ 
information 

Performance/Budget      

Performance 
Quarterly reporting  
 
 

Q4 2019/20 
and 
Q1 2020/21  
18 Sept 2020 
  
Q2 17 Dec 
2020  
 
Q3 19 Mar 
2021 

Report to COSMB Jenny 
Haworth/Tom 
Gorman 

To provide members with 
progress towards 
achieving the key 
outcomes of the council’s 
corporate performance 
framework. 

Standing item 

Budget Outturn 
Report 
Quarterly reporting -
Resources 
 

Q4 2019/20 
and  
Q1 2020/21  
18 Sept 2020 
  
Q2 17 Dec 
2020  
 

Report to COSMB Ian 
Herberson/Michael 
Grogan  

To provide Members with 
details of the forecast 
outturn budget position 
for service groupings. 

Standing item 

P
age 73



 

 
Item 

 
When  

(subject to 
management 
arrangements 

for remote 
meetings) 

 
Approach during COVID-

19 response period 

 report to COSMB 

 circulate to COSMB 
members via email 

 
Who 

 
Outcome 

 
Comment 

Q3 19 Mar 
2021 
 

Periodic updates 
 

 
 

 

    
 

 

Implications of 
government policy 
programme 
 

Cabinet report 
 

Report to COSMB Jenny Haworth To keep members 
informed of the 
implications of relevant 
government policies. 

As and when 

Welfare reform and 
poverty action plan 
updates 
 

Cabinet report 
 

Report to COSMB Andy 
Palmer/Emma 
Gardner 

To keep members 
informed of the progress 
being made by the 
council and its partners in 
addressing welfare 
reform and the wider 
poverty issues in the 
county. 

For information 

County Durham 
Partnership update 

Cabinet report 
 

Circulate via email Julie Bradbrook To keep members 
informed of issues being 
addressed by the County 
Durham Partnership and 
other key initiatives being 
carried out in partnership 
across the county. 

For information 

P
age 74



 

 
Item 

 
When  

(subject to 
management 
arrangements 

for remote 
meetings) 

 
Approach during COVID-

19 response period 

 report to COSMB 

 circulate to COSMB 
members via email 

 
Who 

 
Outcome 

 
Comment 

Chairs’ updates At each 
COSMB 

Circulate via email Chair To keep members 
informed of scrutiny 
activity. 

For information 

Petitions updates 
Quarterly 
 

19 June 2020 
18 Sept 2020 
17 Dec 2020 
19 Mar 2021 

Circulate via email Jackie Graham To keep members 
informed of the status of 
petitions received by the 
Authority.  

For information 

NECA and JTC 
Overview and 
Scrutiny work 
programmes and 
minutes of meetings 

(meetings 
dates tbc) 

Circulate via email Jenny Haworth To keep members 
informed of work ongoing 
by the NECA O&S and 
JTC O&S committees. 

For information 

 

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board 

19 June 2020 
 
Extension of appointment of Non-statutory, 
Non-voting Overview and Scrutiny 
Co-optees 

   
 

 

Report of John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To inform the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
(COSMB) of the use of Chief Officer Delegation Provisions to extend 
the term of appointment of currently serving non-statutory, non-voting 
co-optees for a further two years up to May 2022. 

Executive summary 

2 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee (AWH, S&S, E&E, ESC and 
C&YPs) excluding the COSMB (COSMB) can appoint up to two non-
statutory, non-voting co-optees.  These co-optees bring specialist 
knowledge and an element of external challenge to the Overview and 
Scrutiny process.  Detail of current serving non-statutory, non-voting 
co-optees is attached as appendix 3.  

3 The co-optees are appointed in accordance with a protocol (attached 
as appendix 2) which stipulates the application, interview and 
appointment process to be followed.  The current serving co-optees 
were appointed in May 2018 for two years with the term of 
appointment ending in May 2020.   

4 The protocol allows the COSMB in accordance with paragraph six of 
the attached protocol to extend the term of appointment of co-optees 
for a further two years.  In normal circumstances the COSMB would 
have received a report asking that the committee agrees to the 
extension of their appointment for a further two years with a full review 
of co-optee membership to be undertaken in 2022. 

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 7



5 As a result of the impact of the Coronavirus outbreak it was not 
possible to convene a meeting of the COSMB to agree to extend the 
appointment of our current serving non-statutory, non-voting co-optees 
for a further two years. 

6 It was therefore considered appropriate that in accordance with the 
Chief Officer Delegation Provisions, that the Corporate Director of 
Resources extends the terms of office of current non-statutory, non-
voting co-optees for a further two years up to May 2022. 

Recommendation 

7 Members of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
are recommended to: 

(a) Note the use of Chief Officer Delegation Provisions to extend the 
term of office of currently serving non-statutory, non-voting co-
optees for a further two years up to May 2022. 

(b) Agree that a full review of non-statutory, non-voting co-optee 
membership is undertaken in 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



Background 

8 In Spring 2018 an extensive recruitment exercise was undertaken to fill 
the ten non-statutory, non-voting co-optee vacancies.  The recruitment 
process included publicising the vacancies via the Area Action 
Partnerships (AAPs), DCC website and social media.  This resulted in 
18 applications for the ten vacancies with formal interviews held in 
May 2018.    

9 The successful applicants were appointed for two years with their term 
of appointment coming to an end in May 2020.  In order to keep 
continuity of expertise a report would have been submitted to the 
COSMB, in accordance with paragraph six of the attached protocol, to 
extend the term of appointment for a further two years. 

10 As a result of the Coronavirus outbreak it was not possible to convene 
a meeting of the COSMB and therefore in accordance with Chief 
Officer Delegation Provisions, John Hewitt, Corporate Director of 
Resources extended the appointment of non-statutory, non-voting co-
optees for a further two years to May 2020. 

11 It is planned that a full review of non-statutory, non-voting co-optee 
membership will be undertaken in 2022 which will involve publicising 
the vacancies via social media, AAPs and DCC’s website with a formal 
interview process undertaken prior to appointment. 

12 Current serving co-optees have been informed that their appointment 
has been extended for a further two years and all have confirmed that 
they will continue to serve for a further two years.  In addition, co-
optees have been made aware that a full refresh of co-optee 
membership will be undertaken in May 2022.  

Background papers 

 Protocol for the co-option of non-statutory, non-voting scrutiny 
members (Appendix 2). 

 Review of Overview and Scrutiny co-optee arrangements – 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – 14 
February 2018. 

Other useful documents 

 None 

Contact: Jenny Haworth Tel: 03000 268171 

 Diane Close Tel: 03000 268 141 

 

  

Page 79



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable  

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

Not applicable 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable  

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Climate Change 

Not applicable 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable  
 

Page 80



 

 

 

 

 

Durham County Council 

2020  

 

 

 

 

Protocol for the co-option of non-statutory, non-voting 

scrutiny members. 

 

 

  

Appendix 2 

Page 81



Introduction    

1  The purpose of establishing a protocol for the co-option of non-
statutory, non-voting scrutiny members is as follows: 

 To formalise the appointment of representatives  

 Ensure that as many overview and scrutiny members as is 
practical are involved in the appointment process 

 Appointments meet the requirements of the person specification 

 Formal induction, training and on-going support is available to the 
appointed non-voting co-optees 

 Appointment for a two-year period provides an opportunity for 
non-voting co-opted members to stand down if they wish to and 
provides overview and scrutiny with the opportunity to refresh 
membership and seek representatives with different experience 
and skills 
 

2 For the purposes of this protocol, the term ‘co-opted members/co-
optees’ refers to co-opted non-statutory, non-voting scrutiny members.  

Co-opted members 

3 The majority of members on scrutiny committees are elected members 
of the council although provision is available for the appointment of up 
to two co-optees on each committee.   

4 Each co-optee will be subject to the formal appointment process as 
detailed below. 

5 Co-optees will have no voting rights. 

6 Each co-opted member will be appointed for a period of two years with 
an option to extend for a further two-year period subject to the 
agreement of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
(COSMB).   At the end of the two-year extension co-optees will be given 
the opportunity to apply for a further period of service however this is 
subject to the formal appointment process. 

7 Up to two co-optees may serve on a scrutiny review group including 

cross cutting and light touch reviews.  

8 Review groups may appoint individuals with expert and or specialist 

knowledge for the duration to the review, in addition to the co-optees. 

10  Employees of Durham County Council are excluded from applying to be 

a co-optee. 

 

Page 82



Appointment process 

11 Notice of any co-optee vacancies will be given on the council’s website, 

social media and circulated to the Area Action Partnerships. 

12 Expressions of interest are to be sent to the scrutiny team. 

13 All existing co-optees will be invited to express an interest in applying 

for vacancies. 

14 All those expressing an interest in applying will be sent: 

 Information on the role of overview and scrutiny and co-opted members 

 Protocol for co-opted non-statutory non-voting members 

 Application form 

 

15 Applicants will be required to  

 

 Complete a short application form giving their contact details 

 Indicate which scrutiny committee they would like to be appointed to  

 Provide a statement of no more than 400 words explaining why they 

would like to be involved in the scrutiny process and what they can 

contribute to the role 

16 The chair and vice chair of COSMB, the chair and vice chair of the 

appropriate committee and a relevant scrutiny officer will identify 

suitable candidates. An assessment against the role description and 

person specification will be made for each application. 

Interview 

17 Selected applicants will be invited for interview.  

18 The interview panel is likely to be comprised of the chair and vice chair 

of COSMB, and the relevant chair and vice chair of the appropriate 

scrutiny committee together with a member from that committee 

(minority party representative) and a scrutiny officer. A set of prepared 

questions will be supplied to the panel.  

19 The chair of COSMB will have the casting vote in the event of a tied 

vote. All applicants will be notified by email or letter of the decision of 

the appointment panel. 

20 The interview will last for approximately 20 minutes. 

21 The successful applicants will be contacted to arrange an induction to 

the overview and scrutiny function. 

Page 83



22 Those who have been unsuccessful can ask to join a pool of 

unsuccessful applicants which can be drawn upon should co-optee 

vacancies arise during the two year appointment period. 

Term of office 

23 Co-opted members will be appointed for a term of two years with an 

option for a further two year period subject to the agreement of COSMB. 

24 At the end of the further two year period of office, each scrutiny 

committee will ask the co-opted members if they wish to continue. If 

they do want to continue, they will be subject to the appointment 

process outlined above. 

25 Scrutiny committees benefit from the experience that co-optees 

accumulate during their term of office but recognise that some may wish 

to stand down. Having a fixed term of office also allows scrutiny 

committees to refresh their membership with different skills and 

experience. 

26 The cumulative term of office for a co-optee should not exceed four 

years unless the co-optee has gone through the formal appointment 

process or where the agreement of COSMB is sought. 

27 Co-optees may terminate their membership by giving one month’s 

notice to Jenny Haworth, Head of Strategy (and Statutory Scrutiny 

Officer) should their circumstances change and they can no longer fulfil 

their commitments as a co-optee. 

Code of Conduct 

28  All co-optees are required to sign the council’s code of conduct which 

sets out the standards of behaviour expected. 

29  Co-optees must also sign a declaration of interest form identifying any 

interests which an individual may have which require recording. Advice 

will be provided on these requirements. 

Induction, training and ongoing support 

30 Co-optees will receive an individual induction following appointment and 

prior to attending their first scrutiny meeting. 

31 The induction will involve meeting with the chair and vice chair of the 

committee they are joining and the scrutiny officer responsible for the 

committee. 

Page 84



32 All co-optees will have access to in-house training opportunities relevant 

to the remit of the committee they are appointed too which will increase 

their knowledge and expertise. 

33 Co-optees are voluntary positions but the council will make payments to 

cover expenses whilst fulfilling their duties i.e. travel and subsistence 

allowance. 

 

 

 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

 

Current serving Non-statutory, Non-voting Co-optees 

2018/2022 

 

Adults, Wellbeing and Health OSC 

Rosemary Hassoon 

1 Vacancy 

 

Children and Young People’s OSC 

Ros Evans 

Pauline Parkins 

 

Economy and Enterprise OSC 

Gordon Binney 

Rosemary Morris 

 

Environment and Sustainable Communities OSC 

Tom Bolton 

Pat Holding 

 

Safer and Stronger Communities OSC 

David Balls 

Tony Cooke 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        
 Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board 
 

19 June 2020 

 Notice of Key Decisions 

  

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To consider the list of key decisions that is scheduled to be considered 
by the Executive.  

Recommendation(s) 

2 You are recommended to give consideration to items listed in the 
notice. 

Background 

3 New rules in relation to Executive decisions were introduced by The 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, which came into force on 10 
September 2012.  

4 The regulations took away the requirement for the Executive to produce 
a Forward Plan of key decisions, however introduced that the decision 
maker cannot make a key decision unless a document has been 
published at least 28 clear days before the decision is taken, unless 
either a general exception or special urgency requirements have been 
met.  The document which has to be published must state: 

a) that the key decision is to be made on behalf of the relevant local 
authority 

b) the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made 

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



c) where the decision maker is an individual, that individual’s name and 
title if any and where the decision maker is a decision making body, 
its name and list of its members 

d) the date on which or the period within which the decision is to be 
made 

e) a list of the document submitted to the decision maker for 
consideration in relation to the matter of which the key decision is to 
be made 

f) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on 
their disclosure copies of, or extracts from any document listed as 
available 

g) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to 
the decision maker 

h) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as 
they become available. 

5 The requirements also apply to an exempt matter as previously it did 
not strictly have to be included in the Forward Plan. Now a publicity 
document must contain particulars of the matter, but may not contain 
any confidential exempt information or particulars of the adviser or 
political adviser or assistant. 

6 Notices of key decisions that are being produced meet the legal 
requirements of publication, as well as continuing to provide information 
for a four month period. Members will therefore be able to consider key 
decisions as previously for the four month period. 

Current Notice of Key Decisions 

7 The notice of key decisions that is attached to the report at Appendix 2, 
is the latest to be published prior to the papers for the Board being 
dispatched to members. The notice complies with the requirements for 
Cabinet to be able to take key decisions at the meeting on 8 July 2020. 
It also contained information on those key decisions that are currently 
scheduled to be considered by the Executive up to 31 October 2020. 

 

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel:  03000 269708 

 Jenny Haworth Tel:  03000 268071 

  

Page 90



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. To publish 
the notice of key decisions in accordance with The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012. 

Finance 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Consultation 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Climate Change 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Human Rights 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Crime and Disorder 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Staffing 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Accommodation 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Risk 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Procurement 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION ONE - CORPORATE

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact details for 
further 
information

Scrutiny Involvement

CORP/R/19/04 TBC Council Plan Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for 
Transformation, 
Culture and Tourism 
and Leader of the 
Council 

Tom Gorman, 
Corporate Scrutiny 
and Strategy 
Manager. Tel 
03000 268027

The County Durham 
Vision 2035 was 
developed with 
partners and agreed 
by council in October 
2019. Scrutiny 
members took part in 
the extensive 
consultation process 
with COSMB holding 
a workshop on the 
emerging findings in 
January 2019 and 
receiving a 
presentation as part of 
the final consultation 
process in July 2019. 
The Council Plan is a 
high level plan which 
sets out  priorities and 
key actions for our 
continual 
improvement together 
with how we will 
deliver the ambitions 
of our shared County 
Durham vision.

P
age 93



SECTION ONE - CORPORATE

CORP/R/20/02 16/09/20 Medium Term 
Financial Plan(11) 
2021/22 to 2024/25

Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Finance 
and Leader of the 
Council

Jeff Garfoot, Head 
of Corporate 
Finance & 
Commercial 
Services. Tel 03000 
261946

Scrutiny members will 
have imput into the 
formulation of MTFP 
11 through Coporate 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 
meetings

P
age 94



SECTION TWO -  CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SERVICES

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact details 
for further 
information

CYPS/06/2020 08 Jul 2020 Proposal to close the 
Trimdon Grange site of 
Bluebell Meadow 
Primary School

Graeme Plews, 
School Places and 
Admissions 
Manager, Tel: 
03000 265777 

CYPS/07/2020 16 Sep 2020 Proposal to 
amalgamate Ox Close 
Primary and Oxclose 
Nursery Schools into a 
single primary school in 
a new build school from 
1 September 2023.

Graeme Plews, 
School Places and 
Admissions 
Manager, Tel: 
03000 265777 

P
age 95



SECTION THREE - ADULT AND HEALTH SERVICES

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact details 
for further 
information

P
age 96



SECTION FOUR  - REGENERATION, ECONOMY AND GROWTH

Ref. No. Date of Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main 
Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact details 
for further 
information

P
age 97



SECTION FIVE  - NEIGHBOURHOODS AND CLIMATE CHANGE

Ref. No. Date of Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main 
Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact details 
for further 
information

P
age 98


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 14 February 2020
	5 COVID-19 Planning and Response:
	6 Refresh of the Work Programme 2020/21 for the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board:
	061920-COSMB-Item6-WorkProgramme-App2

	7 Extension of appointment of non-statutory, non-voting Overview and Scrutiny Co-optees:
	061920-COSMB-Item7-CoopteedMembers-App2
	061920-COSMB-Item7-CoopteedMembers-App3

	8 Notice of Key Decisions:
	061920-COSMB-Item8-KeyDecisions-App2
	p1-2.pdf (p.1-2)
	p7-10.pdf (p.3-6)



